

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS

a ganven an por xero, roth kameide Rmena velicing og viase X=X bi. a) Hecht stanet Rmena velicing og viase X=X bi. a) Hecht velahem s=s(1) - s(5) s(6) Bak s(toth)-s(to) ge prie hmotneho kodu vicase to. b) Necht vetalt q=q(1) u hmotneho kodu vicase to. b) Necht vetalt q=q(1) u hmotneho kodu vicase to. b) Necht vetalt q=q(1) u hmotneho kodu vicase to. b) Mecht vetalt q=q(1) u hmotneho kodu vicase to. b) Mecht vetalt q=q(1) u hmotneho kodu vicase to. b) Mecht vetalt q=q(1) u hmotneho kodu vicase to. b) Mecht vetalt q=q(1) u Master's Thesis = i(to). c) Hustnord radioak naboje, J. proud alto motinor i za jednostan čarne je

## **Cost Optimisation of LED Lighting in Vertical Farms**

Nikola Svrčinová



**PILSEN, CZECH REPUBLIC** 

2024



DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS

## **Master's Thesis**

## **Cost Optimisation of LED Lighting in Vertical Farms**

Bc. Nikola Svrčinová

**Thesis advisor** doc. Ing. Roman Čada, Ph.D.

**PILSEN, CZECH REPUBLIC** 

© 2024 Nikola Svrčinová.

All rights reserved. No part of this document may be reproduced or transmitted in any form by any means, electronic or mechanical including photocopying, recording or by any information storage and retrieval system, without permission from the copyright holder(s) in writing.

#### Citation in the bibliography/reference list:

SVRČINOVÁ, Nikola. *Cost Optimisation of LED Lighting in Vertical Farms*. Pilsen, Czech Republic, 2024. Master's Thesis. University of West Bohemia, Faculty of Applied Sciences, Department of Mathematics. Thesis advisor doc. Ing. Roman Čada, Ph.D. ZÁPADOČESKÁ UNIVERZITA V PLZNI Fakulta aplikovaných věd Akademický rok: 2023/2024

# ZADÁNÍ DIPLOMOVÉ PRÁCE

(projektu, uměleckého díla, uměleckého výkonu)

Jméno a příjmení: Osobní číslo: Studijní program: Téma práce: Zadávající katedra: Bc. Nikola SVRČINOVÁ A21N0007P N0541A170005 Matematika a finanční studia Optimalizace nákladů na LED osvětlení ve vertikálních farmách Katedra matematiky

### Zásady pro vypracování

- 1. Seznamte se s pokročilými optimalizačními metodami pro vícekriteriální optimalizaci.
- Proveďte rešerši zaměřenou na metodiku využívání umělého LED osvětlení pro pěstování vybraných druhů plodin.
- 3. Navrhněte optimalizační modely pro úlohu minimalizace nákladů.
- 4. Implementujte modely ve vhodném prostředí a srovnejte různé metodiky pěstování u vybraných druhů plodin.

Rozsah diplomové práce:**40-80 stran**Rozsah grafických prací:**dle potřeby**Forma zpracování diplomové práce:**tištěná** 

Seznam doporučené literatury:

- EHRGOTT, Matthias. Multicriteria Optimization. Heilderberg: Springer, 2005. isbn 3-540-21398-8.
- HIROKI, R. et al. Identifying the Optimum Light Cycle for Lettuce Growth in a Plant Factory. Acta Hortic. Available also from: https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2014.1037.115.
- XYDIS, George; AVGOUSTAKI, Dafni Despoina. Energy cost reduction by shifting electricity demand in indoor vertical farms with artificial lighting. Biosystems Engineering. Available also from: htt-ps://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2021.09.006.
- Další literatura bude upřesňována průběžně.

Vedoucí diplomové práce:

Doc. Ing. Roman Čada, Ph.D. Katedra matematiky

Datum zadání diplomové práce:2. října 2023Termín odevzdání diplomové práce:20. května 2024



under

5M

Doc. Ing. Miloš Železný, Ph.D. děkan

Doc. Ing. Marek Brandner, Ph.D. vedoucí katedry

### **Declaration**

I hereby declare that this Master's Thesis is completely my own work and that I used only the cited sources, literature, and other resources. This thesis has not been used to obtain another or the same academic degree.

I acknowledge that my thesis is subject to the rights and obligations arising from Act No. 121/2000 Coll., the Copyright Act as amended, in particular the fact that the University of West Bohemia has the right to conclude a licence agreement for the use of this thesis as a school work pursuant to Section 60(1) of the Copyright Act.

In Pilsen, on 20 May 2024

Nikola Svrčinová

The names of products, technologies, services, applications, companies, etc. used in the text may be trademarks or registered trademarks of their respective owners.

### Abstract

This Master's thesis is focused on optimising the costs of lighting in indoor vertical farms. First, it explains the condition for crop growth and the operation of LED lights in vertical farming. Second, it introduces possible models of electricity savings for consumers on day-ahead energy markets. The thesis then describes a multi-criteria problem involving different lighting strategies and light sources. A set of Pareto-optimal lights is found, and one lamp is selected by the weighted sum method. The programming part is solved in Matlab. Electrical energy saving models are programmed in addition in Industrial Edge applications by the company Siemens.

### Abstrakt

Diplomová práce se zaměřuje na minimalizaci nákladů na osvětlení ve vertikálních farmách. Nejprve jsou vysvětleny podmínky pro pěstování rostlin a fungování LED světel v oblasti vertikálního farmaření. Dále jsou představeny možné modely pro šetření elektrické energie pro odběratele na day-ahead energetických trzích. Pro kombinace různých modelů svícení a lamp je popsána mutikriteriální úloha. V úloze je nalezena množina pareto-optimálních lamp a pro výběr jedné lampy je použita metoda vážených sum. Programovací část práce je řešena v prostředí Matlab. Modely šetření elektrické energie jsou navíc naprogramovány v aplikacích platformy Industrial Edge od firmy Siemens.

#### **Keywords**

indoor vertical farm • day-ahead energy prices • LED lighting • multi-objective optimisation • Pareto-optimal set • weighted sum method

## Acknowledgement

I would like to thank doc. Ing. Roman Čada, Ph.D., for all his useful advice and consultations regarding the mathematical point of view of this thesis and the form of the work. I would like to express my great thanks to Ing. Tomáš Svoboda for his creative ideas and dedicated time during consultations. Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends for their support and encouragement throughout my studies.

## **Contents**

Gl	Glossary and Notation							
1	Intr	oduction	5					
	1.1	What is vertical farming?	5					
	1.2	Motivation	6					
	1.3	Work overview	7					
	1.4	Resources	9					
2	Met	hodology of growing crop under LED lighting	11					
	2.1	Crop conditions	11					
		2.1.1 Intensity of LED light	11					
		2.1.2 Colour of LED light	12					
	2.2	Types of LED lights	14					
	2.3	Top lighting	15					
		2.3.1 PPF	15					
		2.3.2 Number of lights in the cultivation area	17					
		2.3.3 Relationship between the number of lights and the distance						
		of light and floor	18					
	2.4	Energy consumption	19					
	2.5	Relative light degradation						
		2.5.1 Degradation based on models	23					
		2.5.2 Guaranteed amount of light	25					
	2.6	IP class	25					
	2.7	Fixed or movable lights	25					
3	Met	hodology of plant growth considering day-ahead energy prices	27					
	3.1	Energy contracts	27					
		3.1.1 Day-ahead energy	29					
	3.2	Introduction to lighting strategies	29					
	3.3	Lists of parameters	30					
	3.4	Problem definition	31					

	3.5	Constant continuous lighting						
		3.5.1 Model definition	34					
		3.5.2 Setting the conditions	35					
		3.5.3 The algorithm of finding the min $z = \mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{x} \dots \dots$	37					
		3.5.4 Extension of strategies	38					
	3.6	Dynamic continuous lighting						
		3.6.1 Model definition	39					
		3.6.2 Algorithm of finding the min $z = \mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{x} \dots \dots \dots$	40					
	3.7	Intermittent lighting	41					
		3.7.1 Model definition	42					
	3.8	Linear programming	43					
	3.9	Do the algorithms find the optimal solution?	43					
	3.10	Comparison of lighting strategies	44					
	3.11	Implementation in Industrial Edge applications	46					
4	Mult	i-criterial optimisation	53					
-	4.1	Introduction	53					
	4.2	Optimisation problem definition	54					
	4.3	Chosen LED lights and crop parameters	57					
	4.4	Optimality of solutions	59					
	4.5	Brute force algorithm	61					
		4.5.1 Pareto-optimal fronts	63					
	4.6	The Weighted Sum Method	64					
		4.6.1 Optimality of SAW	65					
		4.6.2 Determination of the normalisation technique	66					
		4.6.3 Assignment of weights to each objective function	68					
		4.6.4 Evaluation of normalisation techniques	70					
		4.6.5 Summary of results	73					
	4.7	Other methods for finding Pareto-optimal set and MCDM	73					
5	Sum	mary	75					
	<b>T</b> 1							
A	I hesis attachment							
Bi	bliography							
Li	st of F	ïgures	85					
Lis	st of T	ables	<b>8</b> 7					

## **Glossary and Notation**

c	Vector of day-ahead prices
CC	Constant continuous strategy
CI	Constant intermittent strategy
DC	Dynamic continuous strategy
DI	Dynamic intermittent strategy
DLI	Daily light integral
$f_i(x)$	<i>i</i> -th objective function
HLI	Hourly light integral
χ	Feasible set
<b>χ</b> Ε	Set of all nondominated points
IVF	Indoor vertical farm
LED	Light emitting diode
LP	Linear programming
$\mathbb{N}$	Natural numbers
PAR	Photosynthetically active radiation
PPF	Photosynthetic photon flux
PPFD	Photosynthetic photon flux density
$\mathbb{R}$	Real numbers
SAW	Simple additive weighting sum method
$w_i$	Weight of <i>i</i> -th objective function
x	Efficient or Pareto-optimal solution
z	Paid price for one day

## Introduction



### 1.1 What is vertical farming?

Indoor vertical farming (IVF) is a way of growing plants in a fully isolated environment, which replaces sunlight with artificial lighting. As it can be seen in Figure 1.1, plants are grown by stacking layers, thus saving space for one unit area. IVFs are placed near urban areas, where land is limited or expensive. Growing crop near cities allows reducing transportation costs and carbon footprint. To precisely regulate the environment in IVF, climate controllers are used to regulate temperature, humidity, CO<sub>2</sub>, nutrition, speed of air and other influences on growth based on the type of plant. The controlled environment ensures the whole year production of consistent and high-quality products [1].



Figure 1.1: AeroFarm's vertical farm [2].

There is other type of indoor farms, which are called greenhouses. Greenhouses have artificial lighting together with natural solar radiation since the walls are permeable. The plants could be grown there in one layer, so the sunlight is spread evenly. This thesis focuses on optimising lighting costs only of indoor vertical farms since in greenhouses, the attention has to be paid to different factors as weather forecasts.

#### 1.2 Motivation

With the increasing population also increases the demand for food production. Compared to field agriculture, IVFs reduce excessive use of pesticides, soil erosion and keep the surrounding ecosystem in balance. IVFs could be crucial in places with a long period of darkness or cold [3]. On the other hand, IVFs have negative environmental impacts without using renewable energy as an energy source. Therefore, the thesis is focusing on purchasing electricity from the day-ahead energy markets since it depends on renewable energy.

Vertical farm experts created a design of vertical farm for leafy green or vine crop production [4]. The annual costs of this vertical farm are shown in pie chart 1.2. 42.6 % of the chart constitute by energy costs. Energy consumption consists of illumination, air management, nutrient delivery, health monitoring and other systems. The Figure 1.3 shows decomposition to individual systems of energy costs. Illumination system creates almost 30 % of all expenses and that is the main reason why this thesis is focusing on minimising the costs of lighting.



Figure 1.2: Pie chart of yearly costs of the vertical farm with leafy greens and vine crop [4].



#### Proportional display of annual energy costs

Figure 1.3: Pie chart of yearly energy costs of the vertical farm with leafy greens and vine crop [4].

The controlled environment is demanding for technology. Specialised equipment and controllers have high initial cost, maintenance and managing all the equipment needs the necessary knowledge of experts. This thesis will focus only on optimising the costs of lights, based on the lighting strategy and light parameters such as price of the light, number of lights, colour possibilities of the light bulb and light degradation.

#### 1.3 Work overview

The thesis starts with explaining crop conditions for growth. First, light intensity conditions for lettuce in different stages of growth are shown, as well as comparison of intensity conditions of some wired crop, potted and cut flowers. The thesis also takes into account colour light conditions. The thesis should answer the question as follows

• What is the required intensity and colour for specific crops?

Secondly, types of LED lights that are used in IVFs are introduced. The work is then dedicated to top linear lights, which is one type of LED lights, and it can be used in all vertical farms. Next is estimated the number of lights that are needed in IVF

#### 1. Introduction

that does not already have a fixed number of light customised by light producer. Then the presented thesis focuses on calculation of energy consumption and light degradation. The degradation is estimated based on LED lifespan. The thesis focuses on questions as follows

- What is the smallest amount of LED lights to minimise initial costs based on the distance between light and canopy?
- Is it financially more advantageous to have fewer lights with high intensity or more lights with low intensity?
- Which LED lights need to be replaced more frequently due to their quicker light degradation?

The Chapter 3 starts with explaining energy contracts, specifically the ones with day-ahead energy prices. Afterwards, parameters, which are used in lighting strategies to save costs of energy, are introduced. These strategies differ in intensity, total lighting time, light cycles and day length. The main focus is on describing 2 different strategies of light intensity. The first is constant, and the second is called dynamic strategy. Constant lighting has the same intensity during a day, meanwhile, the dynamic strategy has different intensity each hour. Algorithms and solution are described and can be found in an enclosed Matlab script model\_code.m. The models are compared with a model, where is no optimisation is done. Implementation of lighting strategies is briefly introduced in Siemens applications LiveTwin, Flow Creator and Energy Manager. Apart from Matlab, which is used only for research reasons, above mentioned applications are used in practice for predictive system control and optimisation.

The last Chapter 4 covers multicriterial optimisation, which should answer the following question:

• What is the optimal LED light and lighting strategy for a chosen crop based on the crop conditions and specific light parameters?

Input parameters of strawberries and romaine lettuce are chosen for comparing results of multicriterial problem. These two are chosen because of their different intensity and required number of hours of light. First, a set of optimal lights is found based on Pareto-optimality. The computation is in file bruteforce.m. Second, different normalisation techniques and weights are used in weighted sum method. The programming part is in attached file multicriterial.m. Final, the results are described.

### 1.4 **Resources**

All written resources of this thesis are listed in the thesis. There was an opportunity to speak with representatives of vertical farms, a lighting company, and a specialist in the energy market. The first information and introduction to the topic was inspired by talks with representatives of vertical farms from Nordic Harvest and GreeenTech. The estimated number of light was inspired by information from a representative of lighting company Food Autonomy.

## Methodology of growing crop under LED lighting

The primary goal of this chapter is to show the parameters, which are relevant to growing crops under LED lighting. These parameters will be used in Chapter 4 for multicriterial optimisation. Firstly, parameters connected with crop conditions such as intensity and colour are introduced. Next, types of LED lights are shown. From these types, the linear top light is chosen, since it can be used in any vertical farm. The number of lights in IVF and energy consumption for one day are estimated for top lights. The last part of this chapter is devoted to approximating light degradation for the constant and dynamic lighting strategies, which are described in Chapter 3.

#### 2.1 Crop conditions

#### 2.1.1 Intensity of LED light

Growing conditions are different from crop to crop and stage of their development, see an example in Table 2.1. In terms of light conditions during growing, enough light intensity and appropriate colour spectrum needs to be ensured. The light intensity is measured in moles per specific area and time using the Daily Light Integral (DLI), which is the total amount of moles per day on 1 meter squared. Formally  $DLI \in \mathbb{R}^+$  in  $\frac{mol}{m^2d}$ . Values of DLI range mostly under 50  $\frac{mol}{m^2d}$  and very common values are between 6-18  $\frac{mol}{m^2d}$  [5]. DLI is a cumulative quantity, and therefore does not measure the instantaneous intensity. A similar quantity describing the amount of light is Photosynthetic Photon Flux Density (PPFD). PPFD  $\in \mathbb{R}^+$  and it is measured in  $\frac{\mu mol}{m^2s}$ . PPFD describes the number of moles that fall on 1 meter squared per second. The relationship between DLI and PPFD is described as

$$DLI = t_p PPFD \frac{3600}{10^6}, \qquad (2.1)$$

where photoperiod  $t_p \in \langle 0, 24 \rangle$  is a number of hours that the light source is on during one day.

It can be seen in Table 2.2 that wired crops require higher values of PPFD than potted crops. The cause of which is that the generative stage requires higher light intensity. The crop is not only sensitive to intensity, but also to colour and time of light. The crop can be divided into 'long day plants' and 'short day plants'. Soybean, tobacco, chrysanthemum, or cannabis sativa, as 'short day plants', need only about 8–12 hours of light and continuous dark for 14–16 hours. Tomatoes, pea plants, rose, cannabis ruderalis do not require specific day length. Spinach, radish, hibiscus, wheat, and lettuce, as 'long day plants', require about 14–18 hours of light period [6].

Stage	Days	PPFD	DLI (16 h)	intensity [%]
Germination Phase 1	1,5-2	150	8,64	60
Germination Phase 2	14	200	11,52	80
Grow Phase 1	10	200	11,52	80
Grow Phase 2	9	225	12,96	90
Grow Phase 3	9	250	14,4	100

Table 2.1: Light condition during lettuce life cycle [4].

Table 2.2: Light condition for different types of crops [5].

wired	PPFD	potted	PPFD	cut	PPFD
Pepper	230	Rose	50	Rose	220
Cucumber	230	Bromelia	90	Tulip	60
Tomato	270	Kalanchoë	90	Gerbera	90
Cannabis Vegetative	350	Orchid	160	Freesia	90
Cannabis Flowering	1 000	Dendrobium	230	Lily	90

#### 2.1.2 Colour of LED light

The quality and appearance of a crop is influenced by the colour of light. Crops contain pigments such as chlorophylls, carotenoids, anthocyanins, phytochromes, etc. These pigments serve an essential function in photosynthesis, protecting leaves and more. They absorb light at various wavelengths and gives crops their unique colours. For example, chlorophyll does not absorb the wavelength range of green. Instead, the wavelength is reflected, and that gives plants such as lettuce their green colour [7]. In the same way, carotenoids give plants orange colour, anthocyanins purple, etc. [8].

The absorption of pigment depends on specific wavelengths. Figure 2.1 shows the general absorption of pigments based on wavelength. The y-axis shows the ratio of absorbed photons on the number of photons emitted by specific wavelength. The peaks represent the wavelength at which crops absorb light the most efficiently.



Figure 2.1: Wavelength absorption of chlorophyll a, b and beta-carotene [9].

Generally, the curves had two peaks around 440 and 650 nm for all species and conditions [10]. This wavelength represents blue and red colours. These two colours play a major role for chlorophylls, which are essential for crop growth and photosynthesis. Other wavelengths also have a complex impact on plant physiology and morphology [11]. There are general properties of colours and their influence on crops:

ultraviolet

Ultraviolet (UV) light has both positive and also negative effects. It increases production of flavonoids and anthocyanins, which increase crop defence mechanism against herbivore attacks and pathogens. However, these types of mechanisms are not needed in IVFs. It also negatively affects the growth, development, and yield of plants [12].

• blue

Blue light increases the production of chlorophyll and plays key role in photosynthesis. Some growers expose leafy greens (lettuce, spinach, kale, ...) to blue light before harvest to intensify their green colour [13].

• green

Green light seems to have fewer benefits than other colours, since it is mostly not absorbed and is instead reflected [8]. However, research shows that a small

amount of this light is beneficial since it penetrates deep into plants, and it drives photosynthesis where other colours cannot.

• orange

Orange light increases the production of carotenoids [8]. These pigments give plants like tomatoes their red, yellow and orange colours. It also promotes flowering and fruiting.

• red and far-red (FR)

Phytochrome absorbs red and FR lights. These colours stimulate seed germination, root development, tuber or bulb formation, and it is essential for flowering and fruit formation [8].

Plants under monochromatic lights, such as only blue or only red LEDs, reduce photosynthetic rate and have growth abnormalities [11]. A proper energy balance of red and blue spectral regions helps plants to have normal growth and form. Lettuce under white+far-red light showed increase in fresh and dry mass in comparison with white and white+blue light. Although it also showed decreases in some antioxidants (vitamin C, flavonoids, phenolic compounds). [14].

Except LED lights with colour channels, white light are often used. White LEDs provide the full spectrum of light and are easy to use. They are usually sufficient for growing lettuce at home or on small scale. Lights with specific colours allow adjusting the intensity of each colour and are more efficient for large operations.

#### 2.2 Types of LED lights

LED lights have a lifespan range of 10,000 to 50,000 hours, which is higher in comparison to other lights [15]. They emit little to no heat, and their light can be directed perfectly. In comparison to other types of light they have smaller energy costs, and they do not burn out so easily, instead, they experience lumen depreciation [16].

Before going to production, there exist top research lights like Attis 300W from the company Food Autonomy, pictured in Figure 2.2 [17]. Research lights offer a wide colour and intensity range, however, they have a very high power consumption and are used only in laboratories. For leafy vegetables, linear top lightings are used, see Figure 2.3. While for wire vegetables and soft fruits, interlightings are also used, shown in 2.4 [18]. Interlighs are hanged between rows of crop to illuminate lower and shadowed parts of crops. To grow cut flowers, potted plants or perennials, top lights and special flowering light bulbs are used.



Figure 2.2: Food Autonomy Horticultural lighting for research.



Figure 2.3: Philips linear top lighting.



Figure 2.4: Philips interlight for wire vegetables and soft fruit.

## 2.3 **Top lighting**

#### 2.3.1 **PPF**

To calculate initial expenses for IVFs, the number of lights needed in one layer of the factory area has to be determined. Besides photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD), there also exists photosynthetic photon flux (PPF)  $\in \mathbb{R}^+$  in  $\frac{\mu \text{mol}}{s}$ . As stated before, PPFD is the number of moles falling on a surface of 1 meter squared per 1 second. On the other hand, the PPF describes the total amount of moles that are emitted by a light source each second in the photosynthetically active radiation (further PAR) zone. PAR is part of the electromagnetic radiation with wavelengths between 400-700 nm, which is utilised by plants for photosynthesis. The PPF is measured by an integrating sphere, and it is stated by lighting producers in datasheets.

In this section, the number of lights for vertical farm for a specific area are estimated. The calculations are not precise since they do not involve information about surface reflections, and they neglect different types of light distributions. If the light is uniformly distributed in all directions, the relationship between PPFD and PPF could be described by the inverse square law. Generally, the law states that

$$I=\frac{S}{r^2},$$

where  $I \in \mathbb{R}^+$  is the intensity of the flux,  $S \in \mathbb{R}^+$  is the source strength and  $r \in \mathbb{R}^+$  is the distance. The law states that, if a source spreads the flux *S* equally on a sphere, the intensity of the flux *I* is inversely proportional to the square of the radius of the sphere. The relationship is graphically depicted in Figure 2.5. For interlight and flowering light bulbs, which spread the light on a sphere, the intensity on surface (PPFD) is calculated as

$$PPFD = \frac{PPF}{4\pi r^2},$$
(2.2)

where *r* is the radius of circle.



Figure 2.5: Graphical representation of Inverse Square Law [19].

LED lights have high uniformity and can be very easily directed since each chip has a typical emission angle of about 120-150 degrees [20]. In light datasheets, 120 degrees as standard beam width and 150 degrees as wide beam width are most often stated. For the calculation of the top light example, an assumption that the whole top lighting is spreading its light only to rectangle area under specified beam width is made. The second assumption is, that the lights in one line follow each other without any extra space between them.

The equation 2.2 calculated intensity for a point source which spread the light on a sphere. Top linear LED lighting spreads light on the surface of a cylinder, which changes the calculation of intensity to

$$PPFD(v) = \frac{PPF}{b_w l_l v},$$
(2.3)

where PPFD(v) intensity on cylinder surface, which depends on distance v,

PPF is photosynthetic photon flux of light,

 $b_w$  is beam width in radians,

 $l_l$  is the length of light in meters,

v is the distance between light and point, where was measured the intensity PPFD.

#### 2.3.2 Number of lights in the cultivation area



Figure 2.6: Visual description of quantities used in section 2.3.

The area where light falls has length  $l_l$  and width  $l_w$ , which is calculated as

$$l_{w} = 2\tan(\frac{b_{w}}{2})r, \qquad (2.4)$$

where *r* is distance between light and soil or canopy. The quantities are depicted in Figure 2.6 for quicker orientation. The calculation of number of lights assumes that each surface of a cultivation area has to have the exact  $PPFD_{crop}$  or higher. The light intensity is calculated right under the light with distance *r* and on the edges of beam span with distance *d*. To calculate the number of light, several possibilities are considered

•  $PPFD(r) < PPFD_{crop}$ 

The intensity PPFD(r) on the floor right under the light for fixed distance is lower than the needed  $PPFD_{crop}$ . This means that the crop is not receiving enough light intensity and the light is not appropriate. Therefore, a light with higher PPF or lowering the light closer to the canopy is needed.

•  $PPFD(d) > PPFD_{crop}$ 

This means that PPF of the light is strong and the intensity of light could be lowered to  $\frac{PPFD_{crop}}{PPFD(d)}$  % of initial intensity.

•  $(PPFD(d) < PPFD_{crop}) \land (PPFD(r) > PPFD_{crop})$ 

The light intensity is not enough over the whole beam span. It means that the intensity is set to 100 % and the distance between lights is smaller. The distance which fulfils the required PPFD is found as  $v = \frac{\text{PPF}}{\text{PPFD}b_w l_l}$  from 2.3. The light width is then  $l_w = 2\sqrt{r^2 - d^2}$ .

One light area *A* is a multiple of light length and width,  $A = l_l l_w$ . The number of lights  $N_l$  is equal to the ratio of the cultivation area *C* with the area *A* rounded up to whole numbers,  $N_l = \lceil \frac{C}{A} \rceil$ .

## 2.3.3 Relationship between the number of lights and the distance of light and floor

The relationship between the number of lights and the distance between the light and the floor is depicted in Figure 2.7 for PPF =  $250 \frac{\mu \text{mol}}{\text{s}}$  and PPFD =  $156.25 \frac{\mu \text{mol}}{\text{m}^2\text{s}}$ .

For small distances between 0 and 0.3 m the PPFD(d) is greater than the minimal PPFD (PPFD(d) > PPFD<sub>crop</sub>). In this case the further away the lights are from the floor the higher the bean span is and the IVF therefore needs fewer lights. From 0.3 to 0.6 m, the lights are so far away from the floor that to preserve minimal light intensity the light has to be closer to another light. It increases the number of lights. If the lights are further than 0.6 m, even if the lights are on 100 % intensity, the area under light is not sufficiently illuminated.

The price of energy for one day based on the distance between light and canopy can be seen in Figure 2.8. The price of energy for distance between 0 and 0.3 m remains constant. With shorter distance, the number of lights increases, however the light intensity is lower. That makes the price the same. The price of energy for distance between 0.3 and 0.6 m is increasing. The amount of light is increasing only

slightly in comparison to shorter distance, however all the lights are now working on 100 % of their intensity.



Figure 2.7: The number of lights depending on the distance. The graph is calculated for DLI = 9  $\frac{\text{mol}}{\text{m}^2\text{d}}$ , lighting time 16 hours, PPF of 250  $\frac{\mu\text{mol}}{\text{s}}$  and cultivation area of size 2500 m<sup>2</sup>.

#### 2.4 Energy consumption

Energy consumption  $x_i$  in MWh in one hour  $i \in \{1, 2, ...T\}$  is

$$x_i = N_l P_n 10^{-6} n_i y_i, (2.5)$$

where  $N_l$  is the number of light,

 $P_n 10^{-6}$  is nominal power of one light in watts converted to megawatts,

 $n_i$  is the light intensity at an hour i and

 $y_i \in \langle 0, 1 \rangle$  is the amount of time that the light is on during an hour *i*.

Nominal power  $P_n \in \mathbb{R}^+$  in watts is the consumed power under specific operating conditions stated in the light datasheets. The calculation of light intensity *n* depends, whether the number of lights  $N_l$  is estimated or specified by an expert. If the number



Figure 2.8: The costs of energy for one day based on the distance between light and the canopy. The graph is calculated for  $DLI = 9 \frac{mol}{m^2 d}$ , lighting time 16 hours, PPF of 250  $\frac{\mu mol}{s}$  and cultivation area of size 2500 m<sup>2</sup>.

of lights is not known, the calculation of intensity is described in Section 2.3.2. If there is known amount of light sources and their maximal PPFD<sup>lights</sup><sub>max</sub>, that one light emits. Intensity is then  $n = \frac{PPFD}{PPFD^{lights}_{max}}$ , where PPFD is actual amount of moles and PPFD<sup>lights</sup><sub>max</sub> is maximal amount of moles that falls on the same surface.

The results of calculations of the number of lights and one day energy consumption are shown in Table 2.3. Lights from the same datasheet are used for comparison [21]. Prices of consumed energy  $z \in \mathbb{R}$  in one day are based on pricing of energy from Nord Pool Day-ahead prices  $\mathbf{c}^T$  from the Netherlands on 2023-09-18 (cells D3 till D26 in datasheet day ahead prices day ahead prices example.xlsx). This dataset is chosen randomly just to show a comparison of the energy prices  $\mathbf{c}^T$  for one day with different lights. The pricing is based on the constant strategy described in the Chapter 3.

Table 2.3: Comparison of the number of lights  $N_l$  and energy consumption *z* during one day for different Food Autonomy linear top lights. All the lights are 1.2 m long. The values are for an area of 100 by 25 meters with constant lighting for 18 hours, DLI =  $9 \frac{\text{mol}}{\text{m}^2 d}$ , distance between the light and the soil d = 0.15 and beam width  $b_w = 150^\circ$ .

light	PPF $\left[\frac{\mu mol}{s}\right]$	$P_n$ [W]	$N_l$ [pcs]	z [EUR]
fix or dimmable	96	32	6472	104
fix or dimmable	145	50	3513	88
4-channel	148	51	3425	87
4-channel	200	71	2405	85
6-channel	150	65	3368	110

#### 2.5 Relative light degradation

Light producers state in their datasheets the light lifetime using "LB" notation, where B defines the percentage of how many lights do not have L percentage of luminous flux from the initial value. For example, L90B10(40,000) means that 10 % of lights do not achieve 90 % of the initial luminous flux at T = 40,000 hours [22]. For clarification, luminous flux  $\Phi \in \mathbb{R}_0^+$  is the measurement of the perceived amount of light by a human eye, and it is measured in lumens. However, the amount of light that the source spread is measured in PPF. There does not exist any straight relationship between luminous flux  $\Phi$  and PPF, because the human eye perceives some colours as being brighter than others. Also, the "LB" information in datasheets is for all their LED lights independent on colour.

The degradation of light can be measured under different conditions. The norm LM-80 was created by the Illuminating Engineering Society with Philips Lumileds [23] to measure the degradation of different lights. For the process of measuring light degradation, see [24]. The lifetime estimation based on LM-80 can be done more accurately than in this thesis and can almost always predict longer LED lifespan [25]. However, consumers do not have access to LED lights data, so this thesis will be using only the "LB" information. Curve fitting is based on the TM-21 norm [26, 25, 27]. The curve fitting that takes into account all the degradation mechanisms in a LED package can be written with boundary condition in the form

$$\begin{cases} \Phi(t) = \beta e^{(-\alpha t)} \\ \Phi(0) = 1 \\ \Phi(T) = L \end{cases}$$
(2.6)

where  $\beta$  is a constant equal one for relative degradation,  $\alpha$  is constant decay rate, t is time in hours,

T and L are parameters from the LB.

The  $\alpha$  is also expressed as

$$\alpha = \frac{\ln(\Phi(t))}{-t}.$$
(2.7)

"LB" information for different LED lights is shown in Table 2.4 and their light degradation in Figure 2.9. The degradation curves are fitted for constant lighting strategy with 100 % of light intensity. In Table 2.4 are shown lights with a 'B' percentage equal to 50 %. Using different lights, such as those with L90B20(54000) would pose a problem, since the  $\alpha$  in 2.6 is the same as for L90B50(54000). To distinguish the degradation, the guaranteed amount of is introduced in 2.5.2.

Table 2.4: Light degradation parameters from Food Autonomy, Philips and Cool Grow datasheets.

producer	lifespan
Food Autonomy	L90B50(54000)
Philips	L95B50(36000)
CoolGrow	L90B50(50 000)



Figure 2.9: Relative light degradation for the constant strategy.

#### 2.5.1 Degradation based on models

Degradation for the constant and the dynamic lighting strategies will be introduced in the following chapter. The constant lighting strategy has the same intensity for the whole lighting time. On the other hand, the dynamic strategy uses different light intensities for each hour. Figure 2.10 shows examples of the constant and dynamic strategies.



Figure 2.10: Example of hourly light integral (HLI) measured in  $\frac{\text{mol}}{\text{m}^2\text{h}}$  for the constant and the dynamic strategy.

The parameter  $\alpha$  in 2.6 corresponds to the temperature of the P-N junction inside the LED lamp. The exponential function correspond to the situation that the light degrades faster for higher temperature (and also intensity) and slower for lower temperature (lower light intensity). The degradation models are for both strategies further developed based on this idea.

The constant strategy  $\Phi_C(t)$  and the dynamic strategy  $\Phi_D(t)$  are constructed by parts of  $\Phi(t)$ . The degradation functions will be compounded by the differences of  $(\Phi(t_i) - \Phi(t_i + 1))$  for all intensities  $i \in \mathbf{n}$ , where **n** is the vector of light intensities during lighting time period. The values of  $\Phi(t_i)$  are from calculated degradation curve 2.6. The light intensity decay for the constant strategy is described by difference equation

$$\begin{cases} \Phi_{\rm C}(t) = \Phi_{\rm C}(t-1) - (\Phi(k) - \Phi(k+1)) & \text{for some } k \\ \Phi_{\rm C}(0) = 1, \end{cases}$$

where  $\Phi_C(t)$  is the intensity of light for constant strategy at time *t* and The following steps need to be done to calculate the difference  $(\Phi(k) - \Phi(k+1))$ . The value of  $\Phi(k)$  is known. To calculate  $\Phi(k+1)$ ,  $\alpha$  is expressed from 2.7 based on "LB" information. Second, the  $t_i = \frac{\ln(\Phi(t_i))}{-\alpha}$  is expressed. Last,  $\Phi(t+1)$  is calculated from 2.6 at time  $t_i + 1$ .

The dynamic strategy is also defined using a recurrence relation

$$\begin{cases} \Phi_D(t) = \Phi_D(t-1) - (\Phi(k_i) - \Phi(k_i+1)) \\ \Phi_D(0) = 1. \end{cases}$$

In the dynamic strategy, the light intensity is different each hour. This means that for each hour, the decay  $(\Phi(k_i) - \Phi(k_i + 1))$  for  $\forall k_i$  is calculated separately. Comparison of the light decay for constant and dynamic strategy is in Figure 2.11. The degradation in 2.11 corresponds to strategies in Figure 2.10.



Figure 2.11: Comparison of the light degradation for continuous and dynamic strategy from Figure 2.10. The upper graph is for one day of lighting. The lower graph is for 54,000 hours of the one-day model.

#### 2.5.2 Guaranteed amount of light

The B parameter is not involved in the last section concerned with light degradation, because most of the LED light has the B parameter equal to 50 %. For the ones that do not, the guaranteed amount of light approach is used. Two different lights L90B50(50000) and L90B40(50000) has the same the degradation curve, even if they differ in B. The guaranteed amount of light is based assumption that the number of LED lights equal to B percentage do not light at all, and 1 - B % of light are illuminating exactly at L value. From equation 2.6, where  $\beta = 1$ ,  $\alpha$  can be expressed as

$$\alpha = -\frac{\ln(\Phi(t)(1-B))}{t},$$

where *t* is fixed time. Information about intensity and failure at more times, some statistic coefficient (expected value, variance, ...) or bathtub curve of failure would be needed to do more precise estimations.

#### 2.6 IP class

Because the lights are in places with high humidity, and they get in contact with water, some lights have specified water protections. The standard IEC 62 262 describes degrees of contact and water protection. The contact protection class is the first number of IP and the second number is the degree of protection against water. The classes of water protection are in Table 2.5.

Table 2.5: Water protection classes of IP [28].

- 0 No protection
- 1 Protection against diagonally (up to 15°) dripping water
- 2 Protection against falling spray water up to 60° from the vertical
- 3 Protection against spray water on all sides
- 4 Protection against spray water on all sides
- 5 Protection against water jets (nozzle) from any angle
- 6 Protection against powerful water jets (flooding)
- 7 Protection against temporary immersion
- 8 Protection against continuous immersion
- 9 Protection against high-pressure water

### 2.7 Fixed or movable lights

Usually, IVFs have dimmable lights at a fixed distance from crops. Another approach to save money is to have lights with fixed intensity but with movable light fixtures.

2. Methodology of growing crop under LED lighting

It means that the lamps can be moved farther or closer to the crops. This approach is used in greenhouses as well as in IVFs [29, 30].
# Methodology of plant \_\_\_\_\_ 3 growth considering day-ahead energy prices

This chapter introduces the types of energy contracts based on price rates and possible purchasing strategies. One of these strategies is to buy electricity on the dayahead energy market. Based on the knowledge that the prices are from the day-ahead energy market, various lighting strategies are proposed to minimise electrical energy costs in one day. First, the lighting strategies and their parameters are introduced. Second, the mathematical definition of each strategy is provided and last, the algorithm for finding the minimal costs is stated. The end of this chapter introduces implementation of lighting strategies in Industrial Edge applications from company Siemens.

## 3.1 Energy contracts

Electrical energy can be traded on the exchange market or directly between supplier and buyer. Private agreements between two parties can have two types of rates

fixed rates contract

Customers either pay a set price for 1 MWh, regardless of energy market price fluctuations, or they agreed different prices tariffs during the day based on peak loads. Peak loads, also called peak demands, represent the highest demand on electrical power over a specified time in a day. The advantage of fixed rate contracts is that customers can easily calculate energy costs, and it protects them from rising prices. • variable rate contract

Payments are determined on the basis of the actual energy price. These tariffs are commonly used when anticipating lower prices or considering a change in a supplier, as they often do not have exit fees.

Electricity is traded on the exchange market in Europe by

forward contracts

Electrical energy, similarly to stock, oil, or gas, can be traded using derivatives. Derivatives such as futures and forwards obligate to buy or sell a specific volume in specified time for an agreed price. The difference between futures and forwards is that futures are standardised, traded on public futures exchanges, and are assured to have a low risk of not fulfilling the obligation. Meanwhile, forwards are customised and traded privately between two parties. The advantage of derivative contracts is the possibility to hedge against risk. Forwards are agreed for longer period than 1 day.

spot contracts

Spot contracts are executed on a day-ahead or intraday basis. The day-ahead market offers to sell or buy energy one day before the operating day.



Figure 3.1: Example of prices on day-ahead energy market with electricity. Prices are for 2023-09-18 in the Netherlands from Nord Pool market [31].

#### 3.1.1 Day-ahead energy

This thesis focuses on spot contracts, particularly on day-ahead energy market with electricity. A day before the operating day, 24 prices are published, with each price corresponding to one hour in the day. These market prices, typically set per 1 MWh (megawatt-hour), can be either positive or negative. Negative prices tend to occur during periods of low demand and an abundant energy supply. Negative prices are more likely to occur on Sundays, holidays or during the night [32]. Day-ahead electrical energy can be traded through the European Power Exchange, Nord Pool or other platforms. The Figure 3.1 depicts an example of day-ahead prices. It can be observed that the prices are the highest around 9 a.m. and 8 p.m. and lowest between 14-16 p.m. The possible causes of high prices could be high energy demand of households, meanwhile low prices during day could be caused by high supply of renewable energy.

# 3.2 Introduction to lighting strategies

Lighting strategies could vary in:

- colour: spectral emission of the LED lamp
- intensity: amount of PPF that the light radiates
- light time: sum of the whole time the light is on
- light cycles: cycles with alternating light and dark period
- day length: time period to optimise (mostly 24 hours)

This thesis will focus on minimising cost based on light intensity, light cycles and day length. The light intensity can be either:

• constant

Constant strategy means that the same light intensity (PPFD) is held constant during the whole given period of time. This strategy can be applied with all types of energy contracts. It is considered the easiest strategy to control, as it keeps the light intensity constant throughout the entire lighting period.

• dynamic

Dynamic lighting strategy is based on changing the light intensity each hour. The lights have to be either dimming or movable. The dynamic approach is either cheaper or costs the same as the constant strategy if only the daily consumed energy is considered. This is because during periods of high energy prices, the supply of energy is low, and conversely, during times of low prices, the supply is high. The dynamic strategy is the same as the constant in case when all the 24 prices are the same. This strategy is used with variable rates or spot contracts. The effect of fluctuating light intensity on plant growth is still in the research phase.

There are two types of light cycles:

- Continuous lighting without any pauses with light off.
- Intermittent light with multiple light cycles during the optimising period. Between each lighting period is time with light off.

This study will combine the light intensity and the light cycles into these four types: continuous constant, continuous dynamic, intermittent constant, intermittent dynamic lighting.

## 3.3 Lists of parameters

The lists below clearly specify the output parameters, input parameters and their units. Input vector from the day-ahead energy market

c	vector of prices	currency (€, \$,)
---	------------------	-------------------

Input parameters that represent conditions for specific crop

DLI	daily light integral	$\frac{\text{mol}}{\text{m}^2\text{d}}$
PPFD <sub>min</sub>	minimal amount of moles that crop needs	$\frac{\mu mol}{m^2 s}$
PPFD <sub>max</sub>	maximal amount of moles that crop absorb before damage	$\frac{\mu mol}{m^2 s}$
$M_{rac{1}{4}}$	maximal volume of energy supplied in quarter of an hour	MWh
$p_s$	number of hours that lights are off from the start of the day	h
$p_n$	number of hours that lights are off at the end of the day	h
h	number of hours that the lights are on in one cycle (con. strat.)	h
v	vector that describes light cycles (intermittent strategies)	h

Input parameters from light datasheets

$P_n$	nominal power	W
-------	---------------	---

There are now two possible parameters. One is used when there are custom-made lights for a specific IVF. The other occurs when the number of lights is estimated. For the first possibility

N <sub>l</sub> PPFE	number of lights PFD <sup>lights</sup> maximal PPFD that the light emits for given distance $r$		given distance r	pc $\frac{\mu mol}{m^2 s}$
In case	e, whei	re the number of lights is estimated		
$C_l$ $C_w$ $r$ $l_l$ $b_w$	culti culti dista lengt angle	vation area length vation area width .nce between light and canopy th of linear light e of light emission	m m m DEG μmol	
Outpu	t para	meters	s	

	was on in each hour	
z	paid price for one day	currency

vector of ratios specifying the length of time the light h

#### 3.4 **Problem definition**

у

The main goal of IVF optimisation is to minimise spending on electrical energy, which is represented in 3.1 by the objective function z. For each day, 24 prices of energy are available, each for one hour of said day. This thesis allows optimising over any time period  $T \in \mathbb{N}$ , because some IVFs use different lengths of growth cycles. Prices are represented as a vector  $\mathbf{c} = [c_1, c_2, \dots, c_T]$ , where  $c_i \in \mathbb{R}$ . The goal is to determine the optimal volume  $\mathbf{x} = [x_1, x_2, \dots, x_T]$  of energy in MWh. Each volume  $x_i$  corresponds to the price  $c_i$ . The minimisation problem is formulated as:

$$\min_{x} z = \mathbf{c}^{T} \mathbf{x}$$

$$\forall i \in \{1, 2, \dots, T\} : x_{i} \ge 0$$

$$x \in \mathbb{R}^{T}$$
(3.1)

The definition of this problem is not final, because constraints about the maximal power consumption, the minimal and maximal PPFD constraints and the definition of the specific strategy are missing.

#### Maximal power consumption

Maximal power consumption  $M_{\frac{1}{4}}$  is measured by energy supplier in Europe quarterly in one hour [33, 34]. For the constant strategy where light intensity remains the same, only the first hour is checked for maximal power consumption. In the first hour  $j = \min\{i|x_i > 0\}$  is a possibility that the light will be switched on during or at full hour. There exists a vector  $\mathbf{y} = [y_1, y_2, ..., y_T]$ , where  $y_i \in \langle 0, 1 \rangle$  expresses the percentage of time, that LED lights are on during one hour. E.g., if the lights can be on each quarter of an hour, the  $y_i \in \{0, \frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{2}, \frac{3}{4}, 1\}$ . The first constraint for constant strategy is then defined as  $j = \min\{i|x_i > 0\} : x_j \leq 4M_{\frac{1}{4}}y_j$ . This problem is generalised for the dynamic strategy, where all the values are checked. Therefore

$$\forall j \in 1, 2, ...T : x_j \le 4M_{\frac{1}{4}}y_j.$$
(3.2)

#### PPFD

The next constraint is based on the IVF's requirements. High light intensity could lead to crop damage by photoinhibition (decrease in photochemical efficiency caused by intense radiation). On the other hand, low intensity could lead to nutrition imbalances due to reduced nutrient uptake. Lack of chlorophyll production causes that crops are more susceptible to diseases and have yellow leaves due to low light intensity. The PPFD constraint with minimal PPFD<sub>min</sub> and maximal PPFD<sub>max</sub> are checked by a given DLI and the amount of hours  $h \in \mathbb{N}$ , that the light is on, computed as  $h = \sum_{i=1}^{T} \mathbf{y}_i$ . The DLI is a given constant. The relationship between PPFD and DLI is given above, see 2.1. Again, for the constant lighting strategy, only one constraint needs to be checked

$$PPFD_{\min}\frac{3600}{10^6}h \le DLI,$$
(3.3)

$$PPFD_{\max}\frac{3600}{10^6}h \ge DLI.$$
(3.4)

For the dynamic strategy, each hour is checked separately by hourly light integral (HLI). The relationship between PPFD and HLI is  $HLI = PPFD3.6^{-3}$ , see 2.1. To remind

$$\sum_{j=1}^{T} \mathrm{HLI}_{j} = \mathrm{DLI}$$

The constraint for minimal and maximal PPFD are checked as

$$y_j$$
HLI<sub>min</sub>  $\leq$  HLI<sub>j</sub>,  
 $y_j$ HLI<sub>max</sub>  $\geq$  HLI<sub>j</sub>.

Already mentioned maximal energy consumption and the maximal PPFD constraint can be checked together. The new constraint is called maximal volume constraint. The maximal energy consumption is represented by a vector  $\mathbf{V}_{\text{max}}^{\text{vol}} = 4M_{\frac{1}{4}}\mathbf{y}$ . The maximal PPFD constrains is calculated from PPFD<sub>max</sub> or HLI<sub>max</sub> to volume  $\mathbf{V}_{\text{max}}^{\text{PPFD}}$ . The relationship between bought volume and light intensity is described in equation 2.5 as

$$\mathbf{V}_{\max}^{\text{PPFD}} = N_l P_n 10^{-6} \mathbf{n} \odot \mathbf{y}, \tag{3.5}$$

where  $\odot$  is elementwise multiplication of two vectors, also called Hadamard product. The maximal volume constraint is the lowest of the previously counted maxims

$$\mathbf{V}_{\max} = \min(\mathbf{V}_{\max}^{\text{PPFD}}, \mathbf{V}_{\max}^{\text{vol}}).$$
(3.6)

The constraint is

$$\forall x_i; i \in \{1, 2, ..., T\} : x_i \le V_{\max}$$

#### **Constraint of light off**

The optimisation strategies will find the optimal time to have a light on during one day. The light has to be on, e.g., for 16 hours. There is possibility that one day the optimalizator found the optimal lighting time at the end of the day and next day at the start of the day. It means that the light would be on for 36 hours continuously. From that reason, pause from start of the day  $p_s$  or pause at the end  $p_e$  are defined. The constraint is

$$p_{s} + p_{e} < T - h$$

$$p_{s} \in \{0, 1, 2, T - 1\}$$

$$p_{e} \in \{0, 1, 2, T - 1\}$$
(3.7)

For  $y_k$ ,  $x_k$ , HLI<sub>k</sub> is true that

 $\forall k \in \{1, 2, ...T\} : y_k = 0 \Leftrightarrow x_k = 0 \Leftrightarrow \text{HLI}_k = 0$ 

and also

 $\forall k \in \{1, 2, ...T\} : y_k > 0 \Leftrightarrow x_k > 0 \Leftrightarrow \text{HLI}_k > 0.$ 

#### 3.5 Constant continuous lighting

The constant continuous lighting strategy has only one light cycle where the light intensity remains the same over the whole given period of time. An example of this strategy could be seen in Figure 3.2. The top subfigure depicts the day ahead energy

prices. The middle subfigure shows the hourly light integral HLI in  $\frac{\mu \text{mol}}{\text{m}^2 h}$  in each hour. The subfigure can lead to a misleading idea that the light intensity during the third hour h = 3 and the nineteenth hour h = 19 is different. However, the light's brightness stays the same during the whole period. The light is on from 2:15 to 19:15. The last subfigure shows dependence of bought volume on energy on hour.



Figure 3.2: Continuous lighting with 16 hours of light on. The model includes a constraint of 2 hours of the light being turned off from the start of the day and 2 from the end. The lighting can be switched on or off each quarter of an hour. The 3rd hour, the light is on for 3/4 of the said hour and for the 19th hour, the light is on only for 1/4.

#### 3.5.1 Model definition

The lighting time with minimal costs is found with the respect to the strategy. For the constant continuous strategy, the light is on for *h* hours. It is break down to  $h = s_2 - s_1$ .  $\langle s_1, s_2 \rangle$  represents the time span when the light is on. For  $s_1, s_2 \in \langle 0, T \rangle$  is bounded by

$$p_s \le s_1 < s_2 \le T - p_e. \tag{3.8}$$

For the vector of ratios for how long the light is on  $\mathbf{y}$  in hour *i*, the constant continuous strategy can be rewritten to form

$$\forall l \in \{ [s_1] + 1, [s_1] + 2, ..., [s_2] \} : y_l = 1$$

$$y_{[s_1]} \in \langle 0, 1 \rangle$$

$$y_{[s_2]} = 1 - y_{s_1}.$$
(3.10)

The  $\lceil g \rceil$  and  $\lfloor g \rfloor$  are the ceiling and floor functions of a number *g*. The same also applies for bough volume of energy

$$\forall m, n \in \{ \lceil s_1 \rceil + 1, \lceil s_1 \rceil + 2, ..., \lfloor s_2 \rfloor \} : x_m = x_n$$
$$x_{\lceil s_1 \rceil} = y_{\lceil s_1 \rceil} x_m$$
$$x_{\lceil s_2 \rceil} = x_m - x_{\lceil s_1 \rceil}.$$
(3.11)

#### 3.5.2 Setting the conditions

First, parameters regarding crop and lighting conditions are set in model\_code.m. The parameters are following

- customize Firstly, the IVF has to choose between the continuous and the intermittent strategy. The value 1 corresponds to the continuous and the value 2 to the intermittent strategy.
- hoursLightOn Then the IVF states for the continuous strategy, the number of hours when the light on *h*.
- vec\_hours In the case of the intermittent strategy, a vector of hours that
  the light is on and off is set. The dimension of the vector corresponds to the
  dimension of the vector of day-ahead prices c. The vector contains only ones
  and zeros, where ones represent that the light is on and zeros that the light is
  off. The first element is always set to one.
- pausStartDay and pausEndDay Because the optimisation method will be finding the optimal price among all time periods and some crops are 'short day plants', it has to be ensured that the light on period will not end at the end of the day and the new period will not start at the start of the new day. This means that the quantities such as pause from the start of the day  $p_s \in \mathbb{N}_0$  and the pause from the end of the day  $p_e \in \mathbb{N}_0$  has to also be stated. The pauses are given in hours.

- window There is also a possibility to change the switching window w ∈ N, which specifies how many times per hour it is possible to start a lighting period, e.g., 4 means the possibility to turn the light on every quarter of an hour, 6 every 10 minutes and so on. The higher the value of w is, the lower (or equal) min<sub>x</sub> z is found.
- DLI Daily light integral.
- lower\_ppfd and upper\_ppfd The lowest PPFD<sub>min</sub> and the highest PPFD<sub>max</sub> that a crop can have during a light on period.
- upper\_bound\_quater Because the supply of energy could be limited by the energy network or the supplier, the maximum amount of energy consumption in each quarter of an hour is also stated.
- power Nominal power in watts.
- know\_lights The next step is to choose between either known, or estimated number of lights. The value 1 signifies known the number of lights, while 0 means that the number of lights is not known.
- areaLength, areaWidth, lightLength, lightToGround, beamwidth, photonFlux
  In the case that the number of lights is unknown the area length, width, light length, distance between light and canopy, light beam width and light photon flux PPF has to be stated.
- numberOfLights and max\_ppfd In case where the lights are known, only the number of lights and the maximal PPFD that light can emit PPFD<sub>l</sub> is stated.

```
Source code 3.1: Setting of parametrs
```

```
window = 4;
pausStartDay = 0; % in hours
pausEndDay =0;
                   % in hours
% CROP CONDITIONS - daily light integral and min and max
   PPFD
DLI = 12;
lower_ppfd = 150;
upper_ppfd = 300;
% MAXIMUM OF ENERGY CONSUMPTION IN 1/4 OF HOUR
upper_bound_quater = 1;
% LIGHT CONDITIONS
power = 32;
know_lights = 0;
% the number of lights is not known
if know_lights ==0
    areaLength = 100;
    areaWidth = 25;
    lightToGround = 0.1;
    lightLength = 1.201;
    beamwidth = 126; %in degrees
    photonFlux = 97;
% the number of lights is known
elseif know_lights ==1
    numberOfLights = 5000;
    % maximal PPFD on surface
    max_ppfd = 557;
    % upper constraint for max PPFD
    upper_ppfd = min(upper_ppfd, max_ppfd);
end
```

# 3.5.3 The algorithm of finding the min $z = c^T x$

The algorithm of finding the minimum has the following steps:

**1. step** - Firstly, the constraints for maximal and minimal amount of PPFD in 3.3 and 3.4 are checked. Because the intensity will be the same for every found minimum, the constraint can be checked only once at the start. This constraint

checks that the given DLI correspond with the PPFD bounds.

Then the first vector of hours during which the lights are on is created. The vector has first *h* values equal one and rest are zeros, e.g. for h = 3 the vector is  $\mathbf{y} = [1, 1, 1, 0, ..0, 0]$ . In the case where  $p_s$  is more than 0, the first 1 starts at the  $p_s + 1$  position. Then, the initial value of  $\mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{y}$  is calculated.

**Repeated steps** - The constant lighting strategy is computed in *k* number of steps where  $k = w(T - h - p_s - p_e) - 1$ . In each step, the vector of light hours **y** is shifted by the chosen light window  $\frac{1}{w}$ , e.g. for w = 4 second step vector equals  $\mathbf{y} = [0.75, 1, 1, ...1, 0.25, 0...0, 0]$ . The sum of *y* is the same, it is equal to the initial number of lighting hours *h*. The shifted vector is compared with the last minimum  $\mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{y}'$  in each step. In the case where  $\mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{y}' > \mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{y}$ , the **y** is taken as the new minimum. If  $\mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{y}' < \mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{y}$  the **y**' stays as the minimal value and it is compared in next steps.

**End-** This type of strategy is computed by splitting the DLI uniformly over the time period when the light is on. First, the hourly light integral is calculated as  $\mathbf{HLI} = \mathbf{y} \frac{\text{DLI}}{h}$ , for the found minimal  $\mathbf{y}$ . Then the volume  $\mathbf{x}$  is computed using 3.5. The constraint for maximal volume consumption 3.2 is checked. If the constraint holds, the result of the loss function is  $\min_{\mathbf{x}} \mathbf{z} = (\mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{x})$ . If not, the problem does not have a feasible solution.

#### 3.5.4 Extension of strategies

The length of optimising period does not have to be 24 hours. One study proposes light-cycles strategies with light/dark period equals to 16/8 h, 16/4 h or 16/2 h [35]. Significant growth of crop was measured in 16/2 period. This leads to create a lighting strategy with day length shorter than 24 hours. There is a possibility to use  $\mathbf{y} \in [y_1, y_2, ..., y_T]$  with any length  $T \in \mathbb{N}$ , where T > h.

# 3.6 **Dynamic continuous lighting**

Amount of light is never stable in the nature due to clouds. This idea inspire the concept of dynamic strategy. The goal is to adhere DLI, while adjusting PPFD of a lighting system each hour throughout the day. Although the dynamic lighting approach is not directly derived from existing research papers, lighting companies are creating dimmable lights for dynamic lighting solutions compatible with renewable energy systems, see [36]. The example of dynamic lighting strategy is shown in Figure 3.3.



Figure 3.3: Dynamic lighting with 16 hours of light on. Model is with condition of 2 hours of light off from the start of the day and 2 from the end. The lighting window is set for 4. The light is on each hour from 3 to 18 o'clock included.

#### 3.6.1 Model definition

The minimum is found with the respect to the strategy. Again, the time span  $\langle s_1, s_2 \rangle$  when the light is on is defined as

$$p_s \leq s_1 < s_2 \leq T - p_e.$$

For the vector of ratios for how long the light is on  $\mathbf{y}$  in an hour *i*, is identical with constant continuous strategy. Just to repeat,

$$\forall l \in \{ [s_1] + 1, [s_1] + 2, ..., [s_2] \} : y_l = 1$$

$$y_{[s_1]} \in \langle 0, 1 \rangle$$

$$y_{[s_2]} = 1 - y_{s_1}.$$

For volume is true that

$$\forall l \in \{ [s_1], [s_1] + 2, ..., [s_2] \} : x_l > 0.$$

# 3.6.2 Algorithm of finding the $\min_{\mathbf{x}} z = \mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{x}$

The setting of conditions remains the same as in the constant strategy. The algorithm of finding the minimal price is following:

1. step - Firstly is created vector of times during the lights are on as first h hours  $\mathbf{y} = [1, 1, 1..0, 0]$ . In case where  $p_s > 0$ , the first 1 starts at the  $p_s + 1$  position. Then is calculated the expected value of first lighting period as an arithmetic average  $\bar{E} = \frac{\sum \mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{y}}{\sum \mathbf{y}}$ . The values for dynamic strategy are reversed  $\mathbf{r} = \bar{E} - (\mathbf{c} - \bar{E})$ . Because the volume can be only positive, the reversed vector is shifted in case that some of  $r_i$  is negative value  $\mathbf{r} = \begin{cases} \mathbf{r} - \min(\mathbf{r}) + 10^{-3} & \min(\mathbf{r}) \le 0\\ \mathbf{r} & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$ . After this operation is  $r_i = r_i y_i$  to assure that reverse values are positive only at specific time. The reversed vector is scaled  $\mathbf{s} = \mathbf{r} \frac{\text{DLI}}{\sum \mathbf{r}}$  to have the sum equal to the given DLI. The scaled values have to also fit into the thresholds. The scaled vector is sort in descending order **d**. The PPFD bound are converted to  $HLI_{min} = PPFD_{min}3.6^{-3}$ . If there  $\exists i \in \{T, T-1, ..., 3, 2\}$ :  $d_i < \text{HLI}_{\min}$  which exceed the lower bound of HLI, the  $d_i$  = HLI<sub>min</sub> and overflowing part  $d_i$  – HLI<sub>min</sub> is shifted, so the  $d_i$  = HLI<sub>min</sub> and the  $d_{i+1} = d_{i+1} + (d_i - \text{HLI}_{\min})$ . This is repeated until the i = 2. For the case i = 1is not necessary to control the lower bound, because DLI = HLI and in the worst case is made the constant strategy. Then the number of lights and the volume  $\mathbf{x}$  is calculated the same way as in constant strategy. Then the conditions for maximal energy consumption and maximal PPFD are checked. The maximal volume  $V_{max}$ is counted based on 3.6 and the upper condition is checked similarly as the lower bound condition. If there  $\exists i \in \{1, 2, ..., T\}$  :  $x_i > V_{max}$  which exceed the upper bound of volume, the  $x_i = V_{max}$  and overflowing part  $V_{max} - d_i$  is shifted to the  $x_{i+1} = x_{i+1} + (V_{\max} - d_i)$ . This is repeated until the i = T. The vector x is resorted back to its prime positions and is counted the first minimum  $\mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{x}$ , which is compared in the next step.

**Repeated steps** - The dynamic lightening strategy is calculated also in  $k = w(24 - h - p_s - p_e) - 1$  number of steps, where all steps start with shifting the intensity vector y by chosen window. Due to counting the expected value, there is created new vector of ones  $o_i = \begin{cases} 1 & y_i > 0 \\ 0 & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$  and the expected value is counted as  $\overline{E} = \frac{\sum \mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{o}}{\sum \mathbf{o}}$ . The algorithm continues the same way as in step 1, the values r are counted, reversed, shifted and multiplied so  $\forall i : r_i = r_i y_i$ . The new  $\mathbf{r}$  is scaled and sorted. The bounds are not scalars, but vectors, since the first and last value of y are not the whole hours. The lower threshold is  $\mathbf{HLI}_{\min} = \mathbf{HLI}_{\min}\mathbf{y}$ . The thresholds are sorted by the same indexing as the r. The values under and above are shifted the same way as in step one, however now are compared parts of vector  $\mathbf{HLI}_{\min}^i$  with

 $d_i$ . Then the amount of lights is counted and conditions for maximal bought volume are checked. The new minimum is the min  $\mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{x} = \min(\mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{x}, \mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{x}')$ , where  $\mathbf{x}'$  is the calculated volume in actual step.

## 3.7 Intermittent lighting

Intermittent lighting strategy is the opposite of the continuous lighting. In the intermittent lighting strategy, the light is switched on and off multiple times during one day. Some research papers are dedicated to comparing influence of intermittent and continuous lighting strategy [37]. Some specific intermittent strategies show that they do not have statistically different results in the development rate, the growth, and the harvest-ready size of the plants. Next, the intermittent strategy is more optimised in [38]. An example of intermittent constant lighting strategy is seen in Figure 3.4 and intermittent dynamic strategy is in Figure 3.5. Both strategies are set of 9 hours.



Figure 3.4: Custom constant lighting strategy with 9 hours of light. The light is on 3 times for 3 hours with two hours pauses. Model is with condition of 2 hours of light off from the start of the day and 2 from the end.



Figure 3.5: Custom dynamic lighting strategy with 9 hours of light. The light is on 3 times for 3 hours with two hours pauses. Model is with condition of 2 hours of light off from the start of the day and 2 from the end.

#### 3.7.1 Model definition

The condition for pauses is the same as in constant and dynamic strategy in 3.8. However, *h* is not equal to  $s_2 - s_1$ , because *h* is split to multiple time periods. Instead  $s_1 = \min\{i | y_i > 0\}$  and  $s_2 = \max\{i | y_i > 0\}$ .

The conditions 3.9 to 3.11, which define the ration of time that the light is on **y** and the bought volume **x**, needs to be rewritten. The model have multiple periods when the light is switched on and of. The first times, when the light is switch on create a set  $\mathbf{F} = \{k \mid (y_{k-1} = 0 \lor \nexists y_{k-1}) \land y_k > 0\}$  and set of last values  $\mathbf{L} = \{l \mid (y_{l+1} = 0 \lor \nexists y_{l+1}) \land y_l > 0\}$ , where  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $l \in \mathbb{N}$ . For the vector **y** applies that

$$\forall k \in F : y_k \in (0, 1) \land x_k > 0$$
  
$$\forall l \in L, y_l \in (0, 1) \land x_l > 0.$$

The set *F* and set *L* are indexes in increasing order, where first index is  $k_1$ , second  $k_2$  and so on to some  $k_n$ , for the set *L* applies the same, the first index is index  $l_1$ ,

second  $l_2,...l_n$ . Generally applies that

$$\forall j \in \{k_j + 1, k_j + 2, ..., l_j - 2, l_j - 1\} : y_j = 1 \land x_j > 0,$$

where  $j \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ . *n* is a number of first or last values. For constant strategy is also true that  $\forall j \in \{k_i+1, k_i+2, ..., l_i-2, l_i-1\}$  and  $\forall i \in \{k_i+1, k_i+2, ..., l_i-2, l_i-1\}$ :  $x_j = x_i$ .

#### 3.8 Linear programming

The above mentioned model definitions consist of linear objective functions, linear constrains and the determined  $\mathbf{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$ . It means that the problem falls within the area of linear programming (LP). LP problems aim to minimize or maximize a linear objective function subject to equality and inequality constraints [39, 40].

#### Definition 3.8.1 (General definition of linear programming problem)

Let  $\mathbf{A} \in \mathbb{R}^{m \times n}$  be given matrix, N is subset of columns indexes  $\{1, 2, ..., n\}$  of matrix **A** and N<sup>c</sup> is complement of N. M is subset of rows indexes  $\{1, 2, ..., m\}$  of matrix **A** and M<sup>c</sup> is complement of M.  $a_i$  are rows of **A**, where  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}$ .  $b \in \mathbb{R}^m$ ,  $c \in \mathbb{R}^n$  are given vectors. The aim is to find a vector **x** of decision variables

min 
$$z = \mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{x}$$

subject to

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{a}_{i}^{T} \mathbf{x} &= b_{i} & \text{for } i \in M, \\ \mathbf{a}_{i}^{T} \mathbf{x} &\geq b_{i} & \text{for } i \in M^{c}, \\ x_{j} &\geq 0 & \text{for } j \in N, \\ x_{i} \in \mathbb{R} & \text{for } j \in N^{c}. \end{aligned}$$

Simplex method, dual simplex method, interior point method, branch and bound method and many more methods are used to solved LP problems. The algorithms of finding the optimal time of light on in section 3.5.3 and 3.6.2 are not standard. The algorithms are implemented in applications with limited options. Proposed algorithms are simple and correspond to the application complexity.

# 3.9 Do the algorithms find the optimal solution?

In the case of constant strategy, it is easy to argue that the algorithms find the optimal solution. The final amount of possible prices  $\mathbf{c}^T \mathbf{x}$  are compared. Moreover, intensities and volume remain the same during the whole process of finding the minimum.

It makes the definition of the strategy and algorithm explicit. On the other hand, the definition of the dynamic lighting strategy is not explicit, and various approaches to define the dynamics can be used. The one that would find the real minimum based on the definition would be the one, where the lighting is on maximum in hours with the lowest prices and on minimum in hours, when the price of energy are highest that day. Of course, all the conditions are met.

The solution of the algorithm of dynamic strategy, described in 3.6.2, is not minimal by the definition. Thanks to the finite amount of possibilities, it founds the minimal price for energy with respect to the type of algorithm. This strategy is chosen, because of lack of research about influence of dynamic strategy on crops. This strategy has lower fluctuations of intensity and copies natural sources of energy in reverse order.

## 3.10 Comparison of lighting strategies

The paid price for energy in one day will be compared in three different cases. In the first case is used any optimisation. The light are on each day in the last h hours at the same time. The second case is constant continuous lighting strategy, and the third case consist of dynamic continuous lighting strategy.

The cost of energy remains the same across all strategies when the price of energy per megawatt-hour is uniform throughout the day. Under these conditions, the dynamic strategy is equivalent to the constant strategy, and the timing of when the light is on or off does not impact the price. However, if the price fluctuates even once during the day, the dynamic strategy will result in a lower overall energy cost for that day. It implies that using optimisation strategies pays off in cases where the prices are not fixed. How much the strategy pays off depends on the fluctuation of the prices and the chosen lighting time in the non-optimised strategy.

In Figure 3.7 can be seen prices for one day with extreme at 4 p.m. In Figure 3.7 are graphs showing different strategies, where the non-optimised strategy is set to have lights on for the last 16 hours of the day. The light is set on in the non-optimised strategy at the wrong time, and the paid prices of the constant and dynamic strategies are around 60 % of the non-optimised strategy.



Figure 3.6: Example of prices on day-ahead energy market with electricity. Prices are for 2023-09-11 in the Netherlands from Nord Pool [31].



Figure 3.7: The graphs are showing the dependency of bought MWh on hours based on prices during the day in Figure 3.6. The paid price for one day is stated next to the title of each graph. The light is on continuously in all strategies for 16 hours.

# 3.11 Implementation in Industrial Edge applications

The algorithms of finding the minimal price for electrical energy based on lighting strategies are shown until this point in Matlab. To extend this thesis to practice, the lighting strategies are implemented in Industrial Edge applications from company Siemens. Used applications optimise constant and dynamic continuous lighting strategies for 24 input values of prices with optimisation window equal to 4.

Steps of implementation:

1. Create function in Simulink

The Siemens application LiveTwin accepts as import any Functional Mock-Up interface application. It means that there can be imported any XML, C, C++ and other codes in ZIP file. Matlab Coder enables to either generate C or C++ code. From the Matlab code model\_code.m is created Simulink function. In Figure 3.8 is shown the function with input parameters on the left side of a block. The block contains the function with optimalizator of lighting strategies. On the right side of the block are outputs of the function.

2. Download data from Nord Pool web page

The second step is to get data for optimisation from a web page. Data used in this example are from Germany 2024-03-24 and are shown in Figure 3.9. The data are download and give straightly by user to the application. For a full automatization, API scratch is needed to extract data from a web page.

3. LiveTwin

LiveTwin also called digital twin is simulation of real objects in computer to predict errors and dysfunctions in real world. LiveTwin could further focus on engagement of sensors or monitoring quality of crop. Light sensors could help to predict the light degradation and optimise the time, when it is necessary to change the LED lights. The input parameters to the LiveTwin are in the Figure 3.11. The parameters are for Humulus Lupulus in vegetative stage of growth.

4. Create data flow from LiveTwin to Energy Manager in Flow Creator

The output data from LiveTwin are sent to Energy Manager via Flow Creator. Flow Creator is an application tool for wiring together hardware devices in runtime or in a single-click, see example 3.11.

5. Display in Energy Manager

Energy Manager is an application to monitor, optimise and visualise energy consumption and costs. In Figure 3.12 can be seen visualised priced of energy from Nord Pool energy market. In Figures 3.12 and 3.13 are visualised result of lighting strategies. In the left upper corner are prices for energy. In the right upper corner from left to right are prices for no strategy, constant and dynamic strategy for one day. In the left lower corner is bought amount of energy for that day, and in the right are shown intensities of light for that day. Red colour is for no strategy, blue for constant strategy and green for dynamic strategy.

The lighting optimisation in Energy Manger was presented in Industrial Solution Fair at Hannover from 2024-04-22 to 2024-04-26.



Figure 3.8: Created function in Simulink.

3. Methodology of plant growth considering day-ahead energy prices



Figure 3.9: Data from Nord Pool from Germany 2024-03-24.



Figure 3.10: Input parameters in LiveTwin.



3. Methodology of plant growth considering day-ahead energy prices

Figure 3.11: Flow Creator between LiveTwin and Energy Manager.



Figure 3.12: The results of lighting strategies for data from Germany on 2024-03-24.



Figure 3.13: The results of lighting strategies for data from Germany on 2024-03-29.

# Multi-criterial optimisation



This chapter starts with describing the basic concepts of multi-criterial optimisation. The optimisation problem is defined and the chosen LED light and crop parameters are introduced. The aim is to find one or more optimal solutions, which consists of combinations of a lighting strategy together with an optimal light source. First, the Pareto-optimal set of solutions is found, and then only one solution is found based on the simple additive weighted sum method (SAW). The input data are normalised by multiple techniques and weighted to evaluate the results of SAW. The chapter also covers efficiency of the solutions.

The notations of Master's thesis follows the book Multi-criteria Optimization by Ehrgott (2005) [41]. The presented definitions are from the first three chapters of the book. These chapters cover introduction to multi-criteria optimization, efficiency of solutions and the weighted sum method.

#### 4.1 Introduction

An objective function, also known as a fitness or cost function, is a real-valued function which values are minimised or maximised subject to the constraints. Multiobjective optimisation problems involve optimising several objective functions, whose are commonly in conflict. Generally, the problem is formulated as

$$\min_{x \in \gamma} (f_1(x), f_2(x), ..., f_n(x)), n \in \mathbb{N},$$
(4.1)

where *n* is a number of objective functions and  $\chi$  is a set of feasible solutions. While talking about multi-criterial optimisation, it is important to distinguish between three different spaces: the feasible set, the decision space, and the objective (or criterion) space.  $\chi$  is called the feasible set, and it involves all the possible realisations of the decision space [41]. In other words, the feasible set is a subset of the decision space. Criterion or objective space contain space of images of the objective function mapping. For example, if the feasible set is

$$\chi = \{ x \in \mathbb{R} : x \ge 0 \},\$$

and the objective function are

$$f_i(x): \chi \to \mathbb{R}, i = \{1, 2, ...n\},\$$

then the decision space is  $\mathbb{R}$  and criterion space is  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

Maximum, supremum or infimum are used instead of minimum. If the objective functions are maximised, then the initial problem 4.1 is rewritten to form

$$\max f(x) = -\min -f(x).$$
(4.2)

Proof. Let m be maximum of function A, i.e.  $\exists a \in A$  such that  $\forall a : a < m$ . Let -A denotes set  $\{-a : a \in A\}$  and then apply that  $-m \in -A$  and  $\forall a : -m < -a$ . It means that -m is minimum of -A. Denoting m = max(A) and -m = min(-A) then is true that

$$max(A) = m = -(-m) = -min(-A).$$

#### 4.2 **Optimisation problem definition**

In the following, all objective functions are stated, and then the problem can be solved based on different approaches. The objective functions are categorized in two types. The first one focuses on costs and the second takes into account the LED lights parameters and their influence on crop. The objective functions that involves costs are

- initial costs of lamps  $f_1(x)$
- daily costs  $f_2(x)$

Objective functions that involve LED lights parameters are:

- lamp wear  $f_3(x)$
- IP class of water protection  $f_4(x)$
- warranty  $f_5(x)$
- light efficacy  $f_6(x)$
- colour possibilities  $f_7(x)$

The initial costs consist of the new bought equipment in the vertical farm. The first objective function aim to minimise the initial cost of the new lamps

$$f_1(x) = p(x)N_l(x),$$

where p is price of one light and  $N_l$  is a number of needed lights. The number of light is different for constant and dynamic strategies, as the dynamic strategy necessitates higher light intensity. The number of lights depends on the size of the cultivation area and amount of the layers, together denoted as A. It also depends on light specification, such as length l, beamwidth  $b_w$ , lamp photon flux PPF and also crop intensity PPFD. Formally

$$N_l(x) = N_l(A, l, b_w, \text{PPF, PPFD}).$$

Given a specific farm, lights and crop, all the parameters are fixed, except PPFD. The PPFD is influenced by the lighting strategy. For the constant strategy, the number of lights is known, since there is only one value of PPFD. For dynamic strategy, the number of lights is chosen, such that it is possible to reach PPFD<sub>max</sub>.

The second objective function relate to daily costs

$$f_2(x) = c(s),$$

where c(s) is price for one day based on the chosen strategy *s*. When considering the cost of strategies for a single day, some are less expensive. Compared strategies are constant continuous (CC), dynamic continuous (DC), constant intermittent (CI) and dynamic intermittent (DI). It applies that

$$c(DC) \le c(CC),$$
  
 $c(DI) \le c(CI).$ 

In these cases, optimization is not necessary, since both dynamic strategies have lower or the same price as the constant strategies. This does not apply while comparing strategies with different amount of hours of light on or different pauses between lighting periods. Other combinations of strategies are not directly comparable. This can be demonstrated in a simple example. For this example, one day (period over is optimised) lasts 3 hours. Table 4.1 presents two possible prices of energy in two days. In the first day, the price of energy of the first hour is 1, the price of second hour is 0 and the price of the third hour in that day is again 1. Prices in the table under each strategy are for the whole day. The light is on for 2 hours in each strategy, and the minimal amount of consumed energy is equal to 0.002 MWh. In intermittent strategy, the light is on the first and the third hour. In continuous strategy, the light can be switched on the first and the second hour or the second

Table 4.1: Prices of strategies for two days with 3-hour long day period. 3 prices [1,0,1] and [0,1,0] are prices of energy for each hour.

prices	DC	DI	CC	CI
[1,0,1]	0.002	2	1	2
[0,1,0]	0.002	0	1	0

and the third hour. In table can be seen that DI could be higher or lower than CC. The same applies for combinations (DC, CI), (CC, CI), (DC, DI).

The daily costs of lighting  $f_2(x)$  depends on the strategy, chosen LED light and the prices of energy during a day. The daily costs are calculated as an average prices over some specified time.

The next costs for vertical farms are associated with the parameters of the light sources. The first one is lamp wear  $(f_3(x))$ . The aim is to find the optimal time after which is necessary to change the light because it does not fulfil crop requirements for needed amount of intensity PPFD. The optimisation problems try to find the lights that do not have to be changed often. Formally

$$f_3(x) = T_s$$

where

$$T = \inf\{t \ge 0 : \phi(t) \le \text{PPFD}_{\max}\},\$$

*T* is the first time, when the intensity  $\phi(t)$  in time *t* is equal or lower than maximal possible amount of intensity given for crop PPFD<sub>max</sub>.

IP class of water protection I and warranty w are two parameters, that are also taken into account while choosing the optimal LED light. The objectives are following

$$f_4(x) = I$$
 and  $f_5(x) = w$ .

Another parameter important for lights is their efficiency to convert energy into light. That is called light efficacy  $E \in \mathbb{R}^+$ . It is a ratio

$$E = \frac{\text{PPF}}{P_n},$$

where PPF is the photosynthetic photon flux measured over a specific spectrum (mostly in the visible, 300-780nm) and  $P_n$  is a nominal power of light. Higher efficacy means that the light emits more moles per unit of nominal power  $P_n$ . It is measured in  $\frac{\mu \text{mol}}{J}$ . The efficacy influences the overall energy costs. Daily costs of light, unlike efficacy, are also influenced by the number of lights and have more complex computation. The objective function is

$$f_6(x) = E.$$

The next parameter to consider is the colour possibilities of LED lamps. Different crops require specific light colours. The objective function is stated as

$$f_7(x)=o,$$

where  $o \in \mathbb{R}$  represents the colours. If all colour that the crop need are involved in colour options of lamps, then the objective function is assigned with high number, e.g., o = 100. If the LED lamp does not have all needed colours, however, contains white colour, then it is assigned with lower number, e.g., o = 50. White composed of all colours, however, the needed colours are not prominent. If light does not include all needed colours, then o is set to the matching number of colours between light and crop.

All above mentioned objective functions can be summarized to one problem. The aim is to find

$$\min (f_1(x), f_2(x), -f_3(x), -f_4(x), -f_5(x), -f_6(x), -f_7(x))$$
  
subject to  $x \in \chi$ , (4.3)

where  $\chi$  is a set of feasible solutions. The feasible solutions consist of possible LED lights and their parameters. Based on 4.2 the second part of objective function should be in form  $-min (-f_3(x), -f_4(x), -f_5(x), -f_6(x), -f_7(x))$ . However, the definition 4.3 does not influence the solution in the following Section 4.4. The minimisation 4.3 consist of objective functions from  $\mathbb{R}$  and  $\mathbb{N}_0$ . The problem belongs to mixed integer multiobjective optimisation.

#### 4.3 Chosen LED lights and crop parameters

Romaine lettuce and strawberries are chosen for comparison of the results of multicriterial problem 4.3. These two were chosen because of their different light needs. Lettuce need a lower intensity of light for a long time. On the other hand, strawberries needs FR light for fruiting and higher intensity of light for shorter time. Their input parameters are shown in Table 4.2.

Table 4.3 shows all the specifications of LED Arize Life2 light that are used for multi-criterial optimisation [43, 44]. The prices are in dollars and have to be exchanged to euros. Exchange rate of the European Central Bank is used for the conversion on 5.4.2024. The exchange rate for 1 USD is 0.9224 EUR. The thesis attachment includes screenshots of LED light prices, the exchange rate and PDFs of light manuals. The Table 4.4 includes information about lights from companies

	romaine lettuce	strawberry
hours light on	16	12
intermittent strategy	4x4 with 1 hour pauses	4x3 with two hours pauses
DLI	12	15
minimal PPFD	150	300
maximal PPFD	300	600
colour	R,B,G	R,B,FR

Table 4.2: The input parameters for romaine lettuce and for strawberries [42].

Lumatek, Secret Jardin and Philips. All the prices in Table are in CZK, and they were exchanged by the rate 1 CZK to 0.03955 EUR. In the tables, some values are red. These values are not stated by the light producer. Warranty is set for 2 years, since it is stated by EU law that the consumer must be given a minimum of 2-year guarantee as a protection against faulty goods. Not all light parameters are stated on the market. Missing information is mostly beam width, warranty or instead of PPF are stated lumens. For the Philips Gen 1 the beam width is not stated. Since all the other generation have the beam width 120 degrees, assumption can be made that the first generation has the same beam span. Large producers of lamps state all of the above except price. For the Philips and the CoolGrow lights the prices are chosen. These prices do not have to correspond to reality and are estimated just for the comparison of multi-criterial techniques. There was just one rule while assigning price to each lamp and that is that lamp with more colour options, length and PPF has higher or the same price as the lamps with lower parameters from the same producer.

For these input parameters, realisations of each objective function are computed. All of these realisations create a decision matrix  $\mathbf{D}$  with alternatives in rows and criteria in columns. The element of the decision matrix  $d_{ij}$  is the *i*-th alternative with respect to the *j*-th criterion. Further, *m* denotes the number of alternatives and *n* is the number of criteria or objective functions.

	A1	A2	A3	A4	A5	A6
power [W]	32	32	30	32	64	64
PPF $\left[\frac{\mu mol}{s}\right]$	103	89	90	90	206	180
length [m]	1.22	1.22	1.22	1.22	2.44	2.44
price [EUR]	115.3	115.3	115.3	115.3	212.2	212.2
colour	B,R	B,R,G,FR	B,R,FR	B,R,G	B,R	B,R,G

Table 4.3: Arize Life2 lights with beam span 126 degrees, degradation L90B50(54 000), IP66 and warranty 5 years.

	Lumatek	S. J. 40W	S. J. Kit	Philips Gen1
power [W]	100	40	80	43
PPF $\left[\frac{\mu mol}{s}\right]$	295	114	160	62.5
length [m]	1.148	0.7	0.905	1.53
beam span [°]	120	120	120	120
price [EUR]	197.3	66.0	152.2	148.1
colour	W+R	W+R	W	R+B+FR
degradation [hours]	60000	30000	30000	25000
IP	65	65	65	66
warranty [years]	5	2	2	2

Table 4.4: Lights from various producers. All the light has intensity L90B0.

Table 4.5: Philips lights with L95(36000), IP66 and warranty 3 years. All parameters correspond to reality except the prices marked with red colour.

	P1	P2	P3	P4	P5
power [W]	70	88	70	88	88
PPF $\left[\frac{\mu mol}{s}\right]$	168	210	168	210	210
length [m]	120	150	120	150	240
beam span [°]	120	120	120	120	140
price [EUR]	180	200	190	220	300
colour	R,B	R,B	R,B,FR	R,B,FR	R,B,FR

Table 4.6: CoolGrow lights with length 1.16 m, L95B50(50000),IP66, warranty 5 years.

	C6	C7	C8	С9	C10	C11	C12	C13
power [W]	60	60	60	60	100	100	100	100
PPF $\left[\frac{\mu mol}{s}\right]$	210	210	210	210	350	350	350	350
beam span [°]	120	150	120	150	120	150	120	150
price [EUR]	200	200	200	200	250	250	250	250
colour	R,B,W	R,B,W	R,B,FR	R,B,FR	R,B,W	R,B,W	R,B,FR	R,B,FR

# 4.4 **Optimality of solutions**

Multi-objective optimisation (MOO) focuses on finding the set of optimal solutions. For solutions in this set, improving one objective comes at the expense of worsening another. This set of solutions is called Pareto-optimal and the image of feasible set is called nondominated set. Pareto-optimal and nondominated sets are described in Definition 4.4.1 and Definition 4.4.2 [41, 45].

**Definition 4.4.1 (Pareto-optimal)** A feasible solution  $\hat{x} \in \chi$  is called efficient or Pareto-optimal, if there is no other  $x \in \chi$  such that

 $f_i(x) \le f_i(\hat{x})$  for all  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$  $f_j(x) < f_j(\hat{x})$  for at least one  $j \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ 

**Definition 4.4.2 (nondominated set)** If  $\hat{x}$  is efficient,  $f(\hat{x})$  is called nondominated point. If  $x_1, x_2 \in \chi$  and  $f(x_1) \leq f(x_2)$  it is said that  $x_1$  dominates  $x_2$  and  $f(x_1)$  dominates  $f(x_2)$ . The set of all efficient solutions  $\hat{x} \in \chi$  is denoted  $\chi_E$ . The set of all nondominated points  $\hat{y} = f(\hat{x})$ , where  $\hat{x} \in \chi_E$  is denoted  $\gamma_N$  and called the nondominated set.

In addition to the Pareto optimal solution, there are also weakly and strictly Pareto optimal solutions, as defined in Definition 4.4.3 and Definition 4.4.4. The difference between them is in the componentwise comparisons of the objective functions.

**Definition 4.4.3 (weakly Pareto-optimal)** A feasible solution  $\hat{x} \in \chi$  is called weakly Pareto-optimal if there is no  $x \in \chi$  such that  $f(x) < f(\hat{x})$ , i.e.  $f_k(x) < f_k(\hat{x})$  for all  $k \in \{1, ..., n\}$ . The point  $\hat{y} = f(\hat{x})$  is then called weakly nondominated. The weakly efficient and nondominated set are denoted  $\chi_{wE}$  and  $\gamma_{wN}$ .

When  $\chi$  takes on many realisations or is continuous, the weakly Pareto-optimal set is the approximation of efficient solution.

**Definition 4.4.4 (strictly Pareto-optimal)** A feasible solution  $\hat{x} \in \chi$  is called strictly Pareto-optimal if there is no  $x \in \chi$  such that  $f(x) \leq f(\hat{x})$ . The point  $\hat{y} = f(\hat{x})$  is then called strictly nondominated. The strictly efficient and nondominated set are denoted  $\chi_{sE}$  and  $\gamma_{sN}$ .

The strictly Pareto-optimal set of solution is not suitable to search, because objective function with identical values to another would not be part of the solution. Different LED lamps with the same set of parameters are equally suitable for IVF and there is no reason why one should not be in the optimal set. From the definitions above, it is obvious that

$$\chi_{sE} \subset \chi_E \subset \chi_{wE}.$$

The thesis introduces a brute force algorithm and weighted sum method. The Paretooptimal solutions in 4.4.1 are also called proper efficient solutions, to distinguished them from weakly and strictly Pareto-optimal solutions. The optimality is more commented in each section dedicated to optimising algorithm.

#### 4.5 Brute force algorithm

The brute force algorithm aim to find the solution by componentwise comparing of objective functions. The focus is on finding the Pareto-optimal set of solutions  $\chi_E$ . The focus is not on weakly and strictly Pareto-optimal, because the weakly Pareto-optimal set is unnecessarily larger and the strictly Pareto-optimal set does not involve identical results for different LED lights and strategies. The algorithm compares rows of the decision matrix **D**. If all values in row k of **D** are equal and at least one value is higher than in row l, then the row k is not part of the nondominated set. It is formulated as  $\exists k, l \in i; k \neq l$ :

 $f_j(x^k) \ge f_j(x^l) \quad \forall j \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$  $f_j(x^k) > f_j(x^l) \quad \text{for at least one } j \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ 

where *j* is *j*-th objective function, and  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}$  is set of rows. Then

#### $k \notin \chi_E$ .

In the set of solutions does not exist two LED lamps and strategies with the same values for each objective function. It means that the founded solution is also strictly Pareto-optimal  $\chi_{sE}$ . The result can be seen in the attached Matlab file bruteforce.m.

Brute force is inappropriate for large number of rows in **D**, because of rapid increase of computational complexity. From all the *m* number of alternatives (rows), two possible alternatives are compared in each step. That is variation of 2 elements from *m*. Which is equal to  $\frac{m!}{(m-2)!}$ . In other words, the first row is compared with remaining rows. Which is m - 1 operations. The same is done for second, third, ..., last row. This means that in the worst case, m(m - 1) operations need to be done. That is true for objective function with one criterion. For *n* criteria, each one needs to be checked, which makes for nm(m-1) operations. Thus, the computation complexity is  $O(nm^2)$ .

In Figure 4.1, Pareto-optimal lights for strawberries can be seen. The picture shows only the dependency of the objective function  $f_2(x)$ , daily costs of light energy, on the objective function  $f_1(x)$ , initial costs of lights. The reason why some dominated point in Figure 4.1 looks Pareto-optimal is, that only the dependency of two objective functions is depicted. The light can be equal with objective function with  $f_1(x)$  and  $f_2(x)$ , however, worse in others.

The Pareto-optimal lights and their strategies are shown for strawberries in Table 4.8 and for romaine lettuce are in Table 4.7. Secret Jardin kit, Philips Gen1 and Philips light P5 are not used for strawberries, because the light's PPF is too low for light length and beamwidth. They can be used for lettuce since lettuce need lower amount of light intensity PPFD.



Figure 4.1: Pareto-optimal set for strawberries is depicted by red circles. Blue circles belong to dominated lights.

In both cases, only the constant intermittent and dynamic intermittent strategies are in the Pareto-optimal set. Because romaine lettuce need lower intensity, the maximum of values of initial and averages daily cost are lower. The light for chosen crops differ mostly because of colour specification of crop.

light	strat.	initial c.	daily c.	lamp wear	IP	warr.	efficacy	col.
A6	CI	758 190	248.08	56.18	6	5	2.81	100
Lumatek	CI	421 432	231.76	56.20	5	5	2.95	50
S. J. 40W	CI	364 782	239.91	28.08	5	2	2.85	50
S. J. Kit	CI	600 200	195.37	96.12	6	5	3.50	50
C6	CI	672 600	218.92	169.02	6	5	3.50	50
C10	CI	450 250	195.37	96.14	6	5	3.50	50
C11	CI	504 500	218.94	169.20	6	5	3.50	50
A4	DI	1 397 666	232.32	56.18	6	5	2.81	100
A6	DI	1 286 144	232.33	56.18	6	5	2.81	100
C6	DI	1 079 400	183.70	96.12	6	5	3.50	50
C7	DI	1 008 400	201.89	169.02	6	5	3.50	50
C10	DI	809 500	183.71	96.14	6	5	3.50	50
C11	DI	756 250	201.89	169.20	6	5	3.50	50

Table 4.7: Pareto-optimal lights for romaine lettuce.
light	strat.	initial c.	daily c.	lamp wear	IP	warr.	efficacy	col.
Lumatek	CI	702 388	266.47	55.00	5	5	2.95	50
S. J. 40W	CI	607 926	275.80	27.50	5	2	2.85	50
C8	CI	1 000 200	224.62	94.17	6	5	3.50	100
C12	CI	750 250	224.62	94.15	6	5	3.50	100
C13	CI	840 750	251.71	167.05	6	5	3.50	100
C8	DI	2 980 600	211.15	94.17	6	5	3.50	100
C12	DI	2 236 500	211.15	94.15	6	5	3.50	100
C13	DI	1 570 000	242.80	167.05	6	5	3.50	100

Table 4.8: Pareto-optimal lights for strawberries.

### 4.5.1 Pareto-optimal fronts

The set of lights that is Pareto-optimal is also known as the Pareto-optimal front. Removing the Pareto-optimal front from the initial set enables to find the second Pareto-optimal front. This new front is optimal relative to the remaining set of lights. Continuing this technique, the lights are divided into Pareto-optimal fronts.



Figure 4.2: Histogram of number of Philips LED light in each Pareto-optimal fronts for strawberries.



Figure 4.3: Histogram of number of Philips LED light in each Pareto-optimal fronts for romaine lettuce.

This work shows an example of Pareto-optimal sets for different prices of Philips lights. The price of light influences only the first criterion, which is the initial costs. In Figures 4.2 and 4.3 can be seen histograms of Pareto-optimal lights in each front. The first picture shows histogram for strawberries and the second shows histogram for romaine lettuce. The histograms are for different percentage of the initial price of LED lights.

## 4.6 The Weighted Sum Method

The Brute force found a set of optimal solutions. The focus is now to find only one and the best solution based on various criteria. The chosen alternative is not necessarily the Pareto-optimal solution. The well known and commonly used method in multi-criteria decision-making (MCDM) is simple additive weighted sum method (SAW). The weighted sum method is based on solving a single objective function. The weight is assigned to each criterion, and the weighted criteria are summed. The inputs data needs to be normalised, so the weights have corresponding importance. The problem is formulated as

$$\max_{x \in \chi} \sum_{k=1}^{n} w_k f_k(x),$$

$$w_k \in \langle 0, 1 \rangle \text{ and } \sum_{k=1}^{n} w_k = 1,$$

$$f_k(x) \in \langle 0, 1 \rangle.$$
(4.4)

where  $w_k$  is the weight of *k*th objective function  $k \in \{1, 2...n\}$  and  $n \in N$  is a number of criteria or results of objective functions  $f_1(x), f_2(x)...f_n(x)$ .

### 4.6.1 Optimality of SAW

This section is dedicated to determine if the solutions are strictly, properly or weakly efficient. The topic is covered in Chapter 3 in Ehrgott [41] together with proofs. The sign of the weights and the convexity of the feasible space play essential roles in determining the optimality of solutions. The Proposition 1 and Proposition 2 summarizes the results.  $\mathbb{R}^n_{\geq}$  is in the propositions the n-dimensional real space where each component of the vector is non-negative.

**Proposition 1** Suppose that  $\hat{x}$  is an optimal solution of the weighted sum optimisation problem 4.4 and  $w = (w_1, w_2, ..., w_n)$  is a vector of weights. Then the following statements hold.

- 1. If  $w \in \mathbb{R}^n_>$  then  $\hat{x} \in \chi_{wE}$
- 2. If  $w \in \mathbb{R}^n_>$  then  $\hat{x} \in \chi_E$

The proposition 1 states that with assumption that the solution is optimal, nonnegative weights guarantee weakly efficiency, and positive weights guarantee proper efficiency. How to ensure that the solution is optimal? The Proposition 2 answer that question. Before the Proposition 2, set of all solutions, Minkowski sum and the convexity of a set needs to be defined. The set of all solutions  $S(w, \gamma)$  for fixed  $w \in \mathbb{R}^n_>$  is

$$S(w,\gamma) = \{ \hat{y} \in \gamma : \langle w, \hat{y} \rangle = \min_{y \in \gamma} \langle w, y \rangle \},\$$

where  $\gamma$  is a set of optimal points with respect to *w*. Second, is the definition of convexity. For the definition of convexity, Minkowski sum needs to be defined.

**Definition 4.6.1 (Minkowski sum)** Let  $S_1, S_2 \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be two sets. The Minkowski sum of  $S_1$  and  $S_2$  is  $S_1 \oplus S_2 := \{s_1 + s_2 : s_1 \in S_1, s_2 \in S_2\}$ .

The Minkowski sum is the sum of all elements, e.g.,  $S_1 = \{1, 2\}, S_2 = \{-3, 0\}$  then  $S_1 \oplus S_2 = \{-2, -1, 1, 2\}$ . Then, the convexity is defined.

**Definition 4.6.2 (Convexity of set)** A set  $s \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is called  $\mathbb{R}^n_{\geq}$ -convex, if  $s \oplus \mathbb{R}^n_{\geq}$  is convex.

Finally, the Proposition 2 is stated.

**Proposition 2** If  $\gamma$  is  $\mathbb{R}^n_>$ -convex, then  $S(\gamma) = \gamma_{wN}$ ,

Some objective functions involve real values while others include integer variables, making the problem non-convex due to the presence of the discrete variables. Consequently, the solutions found are not guaranteed to be optimal. However, optimal solutions have already been identified using a brute force algorithm. The weighted sum method aims to find the most suitable one. Next, the chapter introduces the individual steps in SAW:

- 1. Determination of the normalisation technique for the objective functions and determination of the cost/benefit criteria
- 2. Assignment of weights to each objective function
- 3. Evaluation of solutions

### 4.6.2 **Determination of the normalisation technique**

Firstly, objective functions are divided between costs and benefit classes. Costs criteria involve the initial cost of lamps and the daily costs. These criteria are minimised. The rest of the criteria are maximised. The benefit or maximised criteria are lamp wear, IP class, warranty, light efficacy and colour possibilities.

The values of objective functions have to be normalised before applying any method, such that the weights have the same relative importance. Different normalisation techniques can have various results, and some could be more suitable than others. Using previous research [46, 47, 48, 49, 50], the criteria for cost and benefit normalisation are chosen, see Table 4.9.

The normalisation techniques should be compared by more tests to ensure the chosen method is appropriate for the specific context. The normalisation techniques are compared based on order of alternatives. The order can be compared by Spearman's Rank Correlation coefficient, Kendall  $\tau$  and rank consistency index (RCI). The robustness is checked by standard deviation. The coefficients are now defined [51].

Table 4.9: Table shows different normalisation techniques for benefit and cost criteria.  $r_{ij}$  is an element of matrix R of all possible values for different type of light and lighting strategy. Each column *i* represents all realisation of decision space of one objective function  $f_i$ , e.g.  $(f_1(x_1), f_1(x_2), ...)$ . Each row *j* represent one output from each objective function  $f_1(x_i), f_2(x_i), ...$ 

normalisation technique	benefit criteria	cost criteria
linear max (N1)	$\frac{r_{ij}}{max(r_i)}$	$1 - \frac{r_{ij}}{max(r_i)}$
linear max-min (N2)	$\frac{r_{ij}-min(r_i)}{max(r_i)-min(r_i)}$	$\frac{max(r_i)-r_{ij}}{max(r_i)-min(r_i)}$
linear sum (N3)	$\frac{r_{ij}}{\sum_{i=1}^m r_i}$	$\frac{\frac{1}{r_{ij}}}{\frac{1}{\sum_{i=1}^{m}r_{i}}}$
vector min (N4)	$\frac{r_{ij}}{\sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^m r_i^2}}$	$1 - \frac{r_{ij}}{\sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^m r_i^2}}$
logarithmic (N5)	$\frac{ln(r_{ij})}{ln(\prod_{i=1}^m r_i)}$	$\frac{1 - \frac{ln(r_{ij})}{ln(\prod_{i=1}^{m} r_i)}}{m-1}$

**Definition 4.6.3 (Spearman's rank correlation coefficient)** Let  $(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{Y})$  be two sets of independent and identically distributed observations, where  $R_1, R_2, ..., R_m$  is order of  $x_1, x_2, ..., x_m$  and  $Q_1, Q_2, ..., Q_m$  is order of  $y_1, y_2, ..., y_m$ . Then the Spearman's Rank Correlation for distinct integers is

$$\rho_s = 1 - \frac{6\sum_i (R_i - Q_i)^2}{m(m^2 - 1)},$$

where  $i \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}$  and m is the number of alternatives.

If  $\rho_s$  is closer to 1, then it has more similar order than lower values of  $\rho_s$ . If two or more observation of **X** or **Y** are equal, then they are assigned the mean value of their respective rank.

**Definition 4.6.4 (Kendall's tau)**  $(x_i, y_i)$  and  $(x_j, y_j)$  are two realisation of the sets  $(\mathbf{X}, \mathbf{Y})$ . The realisation are concordant if  $(x_i - x_j)(y_i - y_j) > 0$ . The realisations are disconcordant if  $(x_i - x_j)(y_i - y_j) < 0$ . The Kendall  $\tau$  is

$$\tau = \frac{c-d}{\binom{m}{2}},$$

where c is number of concordant, d is number of disconcordant and  $\binom{m}{2} = \frac{m(m-1)}{2}$  is a number of all pairs.

Kendall's tau, the same as Spearman's rank correlation coefficient, is value between  $\langle -1, 1 \rangle$ . The higher the value is, the more identical their ranking between the two variables is. Low value indicates dissimilar ranking.

The RCI measures the total number of similarities between one normalization technique and all others. The RCI is calculated with a consistency weight (CW), which represents the percentage of similar normalization techniques. The CW is equal to

$$CW = \frac{p}{n-1},$$

where n is a number of normalisation techniques and p is a number of normalisation techniques with which the ranks are compared. Example of calculation of RCI for the first normalisation technique out of 4 possible is computed as

$$RCI_{1} = (T_{1234}(CW = 1) + T_{123}(CW = \frac{2}{3}) + T_{124}(CW = \frac{2}{3}) + T_{134}(CW = \frac{2}{3}) + T_{12}(CW = \frac{1}{3}) + T_{12}(CW = \frac{1}{3}) + T_{14}(CW = \frac{1}{3}))/TS,$$

$$(4.5)$$

where TS is a total number of simulations and T with lower index is a total number of times that the first normalisation technique is similar to other normalisation techniques in lower index of T.

The robustness of the normalisation techniques is measured by the standard deviation (STD). The STD measures the spread of the data from its mean. The standard deviation is estimated by sample deviation for each technique as

$$\sigma = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{i=1}^{m} (x_i - \mu)^2}{m-1}}),$$

where  $x_i$  the is result after weighting for one alternative and one normalisation technique,  $\mu$  is the mean of  $x_i$ ,  $i \in$  and m is a number of alternatives. The robustness of the normalisation techniques can also be checked by Minkowski distance.

The ranks are from 1 to 5. The higher is the rank, the better is the normalisation technique. For all above defined coefficients apply, that the higher they are, the higher rank is it assigned.

# 4.6.3 Assignment of weights to each objective function

The weight can be assigned by an expert in the field or by experimenting with mathematical models. Using previous research [48, 52], the weight criteria are chosen.

#### **Equal Weight Method**

The first method is the equal weight method, where weight come from the uniform distribution. The weights are assigned equally,

$$w_j^{EW} = \frac{1}{n}$$

where  $j \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$  is the index of weight corresponding to the *j*-th objective function.

### **Entropy Method**

Another method to assign weights is the entropy method. From the decision matrix **D** are normalised values for each objective function as  $P_{ij} = \frac{d_{ij}}{\sum_j d_{ij}}$ . The entropy of each column is

$$e_j = -\frac{1}{ln(m)} \sum_j P_{ij} ln(P_{ij}).$$

Entropy of a random variable represents uncertainty of the variable's possible outcome. If  $e_j = 0$ , that means that the outcome is known.  $e_j = 1$  means the highest entropy and therefore  $e_j$  has the highest uncertainty of outcome. The weight is higher for lower uncertainty

$$w_j^{EM} = \frac{1-e_j}{\sum_j 1-e_j}.$$

#### **Reciprocal weights**

Another approach of assigning weight is based on importance of each criterion or objective function. The objective functions with the highest importance have assigned rank  $r_j = 1$ , the second most important has rank  $r_j = 2$  and so on until n = 7. There are described 2 types of rank ordering. The first rank ordering criteria is called reciprocal, where the weight of each criterion uses the reciprocal value of the ranks normalised by the sum of the reciprocals. The formula for reciprocal weights (RR) is following

$$w_j^{\rm RR} = \frac{1/r_j}{\sum_{k=1}^n 1/r_k}.$$

#### **Rank Sum weight method**

In this method, the ranks are subtracted from the number of criteria. The weights are normalised by dividing by the sum of the ranks. The formula for calculation of ranks

$$w_j^{\text{RS}} = \frac{n - r_j + 1}{\sum_{k=1}^n (n - r_k + 1)}$$

can be simplified to  $\frac{2(n-r_j+1)}{n(n+1)}$ . The sum is divided to  $\sum_{k=1}^{n} (n+1) - \sum_{k=1}^{n} r_k$ , which equals  $n(n+1) - \frac{1}{2}n(n+1) = \frac{1}{2}n(n+1)$ . The second sum  $\sum_{k=1}^{n} r_k = \frac{1}{2}n(n+1)$  can be proof for natural numbers  $(r_1, r_2, ..., r_n) = (1, 2, 3, ...)$  by induction. For n = 1 applies that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{1} r_j = \frac{1}{2}2 = 1.$$

Induction hypotheses assume that for any n is true that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n} r_k = \frac{1}{2}n(n+1).$$

For n + 1 should apply  $\sum_{k=1}^{n+1} r_k = \frac{1}{2}(n+1)(n+2)$ . For induction step, n + 1, apply that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{n+1} r_k = \sum_{k=1}^n r_k + n + 1 = \frac{1}{2}n(n+1) + n + 1 = \frac{1}{2}(n+1)(n+2).$$

### 4.6.4 **Evaluation of normalisation techniques**

Normalisation techniques are investigated for each method of assigning weights. In this section, results for all possible lights and strategies of romaine lettuce weighted by entropy method are shown. Full result can be seen in rank\_nondominated.m". Spearman's and Kendall's coefficients are in Table 4.10 and 4.11. The ranking is different only for the two lowest means. In both cases, the best three normalisation techniques based on the coefficients are N4 (vector min), N1 (linear max) and N3 (linear sum).

	N1	N2	N3	N4	N5	mean	rank
N1		0.979	0.940	0.988	0.907	0.954	4
N2	0.979		0.871	0.945	0.839	0.909	1
N3	0.940	0.872		0.973	0.962	0.937	3
N4	0.988	0.945	0.974		0.931	0.959	5
N5	0.907	0.839	0.962	0.931		0.910	2

Table 4.10: Spearman's rank correlation coefficients with means and rank of each normalisation technique.

	N1	N2	N3	N4	N5	mean	rank
N1		0.911	0.820	0.922	0.738	0.848	4
N2	0.911		0.734	0.835	0.661	0.785	2
N3	0.820	0.734		0.884	0.834	0.818	3
N4	0.922	0.835	0.884		0.770	0.853	5
N5	0.738	0.661	0.834	0.770		0.751	1

Table 4.11: Kendall's taus with means and rank of each normalisation technique.

For RCI method was chosen 1 000 simulations, where in each simulation were chosen seven random lights and their strategies. The RCI with STD of the normalisation technique is in Table 4.12.

Table 4.12: RCI and standard deviation of each normalisation technique and rank.

	RCI	rank	STD	rank
N1	0.7437	5	0.1223	4
N2	0.6179	2	0.1876	5
N3	0.6226	3	0.0024	2
N4	0.7462	4	0.0220	3
N5	0.3785	1	0.0013	1

N5 and N2 are not considered as the chosen normalisation techniques, because of their low ranking in 3 out of 4 criteria. N3 has always worse ranking than N1 and N4. The best ranking criteria are N1 and N4. Even though the N4 is better in 3 out of 4 criteria, the values are close. N1 has significantly better results of STD. CoolGrow C11 with constant intermittent is the optimal lamp for lettuce based on 4 normalisation techniques N1, N2, N3 and N4. The weights for entropy method are [0.15, 0.15, 0.14, 0.15, 0.15, 0.15, 0.11].

The ranks of normalisation technifies and data weighted by entropy method for strawberries can be seen in Table 4.13. The weights for strawberries are [0.14, 0.154, 0.14, 0.15, 0.15, 0.15, 0.13]. The chosen lamp is CoolGrow C13 with constant intermittent strategy. The weighs of the entropy method are very close to the weight of the equal weight method. The cause is, that lights parameters have similar values with low span of possible values. The ranks and results of entropy and equal weight method sre identical.

For the ranking methods, one rank of criteria is chosen to show the results. The lower is the rank, the more important is the criterion. There is an assumption that the colour is the most important, because it has influence on crop quality and low crop quality decreases demand. Therefore, the rank is set to 1. In Table 4.8 and 4.7, IP class values are 5 or 6 for all light. Because there are only two variants for

	Spearman	rank	Kendal	rank	RCI	rank	STD	rank
N1	0.9536	4	0.8477	4	0.7922	5	0.1223	4
N2	0.9086	1	0.7854	2	0.6573	3	0.1876	5
N3	0.9366	3	0.8180	3	0.6293	2	0.0024	2
N4	0.9593	5	0.8528	5	0.7841	4	0.0220	3
N5	0.9098	2	0.7506	1	0.3993	1	0.0013	1

Table 4.13: Ranks of each normalisation method for strawberries.

IP class, the rank for this criterion is set to the least import one, which is 7. This assigning of ranks takes the possible permutation of ranks from 7! (5040) to 5! (120). The warranty and lamp wear have similar meaning. Most of the lights in the Pareto-optimal set have a similar warranty around 5 years, so the warranty is assigned with the second least important rank, which is 6. Lamp wear can also influence crop quality and energy consumption after some time. Therefore, the lamp wear has the second most important rank, i.e., 2. Efficacy and daily costs can be understood in a similar way. However, daily costs are influenced by light size and beam span, therefore it is set to be more important than efficacy. The last ranks need to be assigned to initial and daily costs. The average ratio of initial costs to daily costs for strawberries is 4,362 days, which is nearly 16 and a half years. If it is assumed that the light are used for a longer period of time, the daily cost will be more important than the initial costs of lights.

Table 4.14: Ranks of each criterion for ranking weight methods.

initial costs	daily c.	lamp wear	IP	warr.	efficacy	colour
4	3	2	7	6	5	1

The results of normalisation techniques for rank weights for romaine lettuce can be seen in Tables 4.15 and 4.16. For reciprocal methods are the weights [0.15, 0.11, 0.07, 0.25, 0.21,

0.18, 0.04]. The optimal light for this method is again CoolGrow C11 for N1-N4 with constant intermittent strategy. Based on normalisation technique N5 is optimal the same lamp but with dynamic intermittent strategy. For the sum weight method, the weights are [0.15, 0.19, 0.21, 0.04, 0.07, 0.11, 0.25]. The optimal light for N1, N2, N4 is CoolGrow C11 with constant intermittent strategy. For N3 was chosen constant intermittent strategy with light Arize A6 and for N5 it is Arize A4 with dynamic intermittent strategy. For strawberries is optimal light in all method CoolGrow C13 with constant intermittent strategy and for N5 with dynamic strategy.

	Spearman	rank	Kendal	rank	RCI	rank	STD	rank
N1	0.9534	5	0.8595	5	0.8702	5	0.1164	4
N2	0.9252	2	0.8181	2	0.7667	3	0.2103	5
N3	0.9353	3	0.8183	3	0.7000	2	0.0019	2
N4	0.9500	4	0.8495	4	0.8367	4	0.0186	3
N5	0.8786	1	0.7090	1	0.2748	1	0.0011	1

Table 4.15: Ranks of each normalisation method of order reciprocal ranking for romaine lettuce.

Table 4.16: Ranks of each normalisation method of ranking sum weight method for romaine lettuce.

	Spearman	rank	Kendal	rank	RCI	rank	STD	rank
N1	0.9592	4	0.8602	4	0.9199	5	0.1405	4
N2	0.9084	1	0.7856	2	0.6863	2	0.1756	5
N3	0.9496	3	0.8419	3	0.8302	3	0.0038	2
N4	0.9631	5	0.8623	5	0.9099	4	0.0289	3
N5	0.9113	2	0.7656	1	0.5053	1	0.0023	1

### 4.6.5 Summary of results

The results of the weighted sum method can be summarized as follows. For given types of data was not appropriate to use logarithmic normalisation technique, since it always has different optimal light and lower standard deviation. In most cases, CoolGrow LED lights were the best option to use in IVFs. There is a possibility that the given price for CoolGrow light was underestimate and the price for Philips light was overpriced. The strawberries have high demand on intensity, which makes the Pareto-optimal set narrower. The weights for entropy method are very similar to equal weight method. It could be caused by similar span of normalised criteria.

## 4.7 Other methods for finding Pareto-optimal set and MCDM

For optimisation problems with higher amount of alternatives exist various methods to find Pareto-optimal set of solution. The classic method is the brute force algorithm. Between commonly use heuristic algorithms belongs genetic algorithms like NSGA-II [53] or swarm particle optimisation like MOPSO [54]. Because the data set is small, it is not necessary to use heuristic algorithms to find Pareto-optimal set of solution

The MCDM include many optimisation techniques, where the most common are  $\epsilon$ -constraint scalarization, Elimination and Choice Translating Reality (ELEC-

#### 4. Multi-criterial optimisation

TRE), Analytic Hierarchy Process (AHP) and Technique for Order of Preference by Similarity to Ideal Solution (TOPSIS). The SAW method also belongs to MCDM methods, which finds the only one solution. The SAW method was chosen because it is the most basic method and the efficiency of oslutions is described in details.

## **Summary**

Indoor vertical farming is a technique to grow crop in fully isolated environment. The highest annual expenses of IVFs are for energy used for lighting. It motivates the presented Master's thesis to focus on lowering lighting costs by experimenting with different lighting strategies and found the optimal light with respect to crop. The focus is on IVFs that are ecological and use renewable energy, which is traded on day-ahead energy markets.

The thesis begins by discussing crop conditions, such as intensity and color, in Chapter 2. This chapter also provides information about different types of LED lights. For top lighting, the number of lights is calculated based on the distance between the lights and the floor. This calculation does not consider different LED light distribution curves or light reflections. The optimal distance between the lights and the floor is determined to minimize both initial and daily illumination costs. Additionally, energy consumption and light degradation calculations are described. Light degradation at the end of the day is the same for both models.

The Chapter 3 begins with introducing day-ahead energy prices of electrical energy and lighting strategies. The focus is on constant and dynamic strategies. In constant strategy is the same intensity during whole time. In dynamic strategy is the intensity different each hour based on the day-ahead energy prices. The aim is to find optimal time and intensity of light with given bounds. These bounds are given by crop and power net. The strategies can have the light on continuously (continuous strategy) or with pauses between each lighting period (intermittent strategy). The last part of this thesis shows implementation in application from company Siemens.

The last Chapter 4 cover multicriterial optimisation, which aims to find optimal strategies and LED lights based on crop. First, the optimisation criteria are introduced. The criteria consist of initial costs, daily costs, lamp wear, IP class, warranty, efficacy and colours of light. The chapter shows results for lettuces and strawberries. Lettuces need longer time of lighting with lower intensity and strawberries need short period of lighting with high intensity and red colour for fruiting. It was found out that brute force algorithm is sufficient algorithm for finding the optimal set of Pareto-optimal solutions and that the solution are even strictly Pareto-optimal. Op-

#### 5. Summary

timal lighting strategies involve mostly intermittent lighting instead of continuous one and the constant strategy is preferred over dynamic one. The possible cause is that for dynamic strategy needs to be in IVFs more lights, and it increases the initial costs. After finding the Pareto-optimal set of lights, different normalisation techniques and weight methods are investigated to find one optimal lighting strategy and light. It was found that the normalisation techniques, except the logarithmic, has the same results and for strawberries were the result identical even for different weights.

The thesis could be extended by more accurate information about lights, such as distribution curves and light degradation. To minimise the cost for lighting even more, instead of the possibility that the light can be switched on only every quarter of a hour, they can be switched on any time. There has to be taken into account that the result of the work depend on chosen day-ahead prices. For general results, would be needed to done more research based on country or type of renewable energy. Even if there is research on the influence of constant or degradation light and various spectrums on crop, there is no research on changes of intensity during one day. More investigation into effects of light on crop are needed to be done to involve less costly lighting strategies.

## **Thesis attachment**



The thesis includes PDF files with exchange rates, prices of lights, and their manuals. The files for Siemens applications can also be found here. The **day ahead prices example.xlsx** file consist of few examples of day-ahead energy prices from Nord Pool market. There are specifically 80 prices from the Netherlands from 2023-07-02 to 2023-09-19 (2023-09-19 are cells "C3:C26", 2023-09-18 are cells "D3:D26", ...). The Matlab files are described in order that they are used in chapters. The files are

• lighttoground.m

Figures of number of light and daily energy costs for different distance between light and floor.

conversion\_to\_MWh.m (function)

File consist of function which calculate volume of electrical energy that is consumed each hour in MWh and number of lights that are needed for vertical farm. This function is called by lighttoground.m and model\_code.m. The input parameters are vector of HLI, cultivation area length and width, light length, the distance between light and canopy, nominal power of light and PPF of light.

• model\_code.m

File that run constant and dynamic optimisation based on farmer conditions. Also shows estimation of degradation for constant and dynamic model.

resultMatrixLettuce.m and matrixLettucemin.mat

Matlab's function that involve all the light parameters and returns matrix of objective functions for romaine lettuce matrixLettucemin.mat.

resultMatrixStrawberries.m and matrixStrawmin.mat

Matlab functions that involve all the light parameters and returns matrix of objective functions for strawberries matrixStrawmin.mat

bruteforce.m

Brute force algorithms that find a set of Pareto-optimal solutions.

• bruteforcefunction.m(function)

Brute force algorithms in function to find Pareto-optimal fronts. Called by philipsprice.m

philipsprice.m

File generate figure of the Pareto optimal fronts for Philips lights.

• multicriterial.m

File includes weighted sum method.

calculate\_RCI.m (function)

Calculation of RCI. Called by multicriterial.m.

• lightdistance.m(function)

Called by resultMatrixLettuce.m and resultMatrixStrawberries.m. The function calculates the distance between the light and the canopy or floor.

• resultInput.m(function)

Called by resultMatrixLettuce.mand resultMatrixStrawberries.m. The function calculates the results of the objective functions.

• multicriterialInput.m(function)

Called by resultInput.m. The function calculates the optimal price for energy for 1 day based on the strategy.

## **Bibliography**

- 1. JI, Yongran; KUSUMA, Paul; MARCELIS, Leo F.M. Vertical farming. *Current Biology*. 2023, vol. 33, p. 11. Available from DOI: 10.1016/j.cub.2023.02.010.
- 2. AeroFarm: Best Inventions 2019. Time. Available also from: https://time.com/ collection/best-inventions-2019/5733085/aerofarms/.
- 3. ZARĘBA, Anna; KRZEMIŃSKA, Alicja; KOZIK, Renata. Urban Vertical Farming as an Example of Nature-Based Solutions Supporting a Healthy Society Living in the Urban Environment. *Resources*. 2021, vol. 10, p. 109. Available from DOI: 10.3390/resources10110109.
- ZEIDLER, Conrad. Final report Vertical Farm 2.0: Designing an Economically Feasible Vertical Farm – A combined European Endeavor for Sustainable Urban Agriculture. Biosystems Engineering, 2015. Available also from: https://elib. dlr.de/116034/1/Vertical%20Farm%202.0.pdf.
- 5. LIGHTING, MechaTronix Horticulture. *Typical PPFD and DLI values per crop*. THE NEXT DIMENSION IN LED GROW LIGHTS, 2018-2023. Available also from: https://www.horti-growlight.com/en-gb/typical-ppfd-dli-values-per-crop.
- BOEKHOUT, Rebekka. The right light intensity and illumination length for plants. VerticalFarmDaily.com,www.hortione.com, 2020. Available also from: https://www.verticalfarmdaily.com/article/9279965/the-right-lightintensity-and-illumination-length-for-plants/.
- 7. SOCIETY, National Geographic. *Chlorophyll*. National Geographic, 2023. Available also from: https://education.nationalgeographic.org/resource/chlorophyll/.
- DANILA, Elena; LUCACHE, Dorin Dumitru. Efficient Lighting System for Greenhouses. International Conference, Exposition on Electrical, and Power Engineering (EPE 2016), 20-22 October, Iasi, Romania, 2016. Available also from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/309582430\_Efficient\_Lighting\_ System\_for\_Greenhouses.

- 9. GILEWSKI, Marian. The role of light in the plants world. *Photonics Letters of Poland*. 2019, vol. 11, p. 115. Available from DOI: 10.4302/plp.v11i4.965.
- MCCREE, K. J. THE ACTION SPECTRUM, ABSORPTANCE AND QUAN-TUM YIELD OF PHOTOSYNTHESIS IN CROP PLANTS. Agricultural Meteorology, 1970.
- MOHAMED, S.J.; RIHAN, H.Z; FULLER, N. Aljaferand M.P. The Impact of Light Spectrum and Intensity on the Growth, Physiology, and Antioxidant Activity of Lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.). Plants, 2021. Available also from: https://www. mdpi.com/2223-7747/10/10/2162.
- 12. LIAQAT, Waqas et al. *Ultraviolet-B radiation in relation to agriculture in the context of climate change: a review*. Cereal Res Commun, 2023. Available also from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC10099031/.
- 13. KUACK, David. *LEDs have the potential to change how crops are grown*. Hort Americas. Available also from: https://hortamericas.com/blog/leds-have-potential-to-change-how-crops/.
- 14. LI, Yamin et al. Supplementary Far-Red and Blue Lights Influence the Biomass and Phytochemical Profiles of Two Lettuce Cultivars in Plant Factory. Molecules, 0020. Available also from: https://%20doi.org/10.3390/molecules26237405.
- 15. EARTHEASY. LED Light Bulbs: Comparison Charts. Eartheasy.com, 2023. Available also from: https://www.nordpoolgroup.com/en/Market-data1/Dayahead/ Area-Prices/nl/hourly/?view=table.
- LUCIDITY LIGHTS, inc. The Pros and Cons of LED Lights. Lucidity Lights, inc., 2020. Available also from: https://www.bebrilli.com/blogs/brilli/ pros-and-cons-of-led-lights.
- 17. LIGHTING, Food Autonomy Horticultural. *Grrenhouse Toplight Research Mod-ule datasheet*. foodautonomy.org, 2023. Available also from: https://foodautonomy.org/storage/files/researchSheet2023\_1.pdf.
- PHILIPS. Philips Horticulture LED GreenPower LED interlighting datasheet. Philips, 2022. Available also from: https://foodautonomy.org/storage/files/researchSheet2023\_ 1.pdf.
- NANE, C. R. Inverse Square Law, Light. Georgia State University, 2008. Available also from: http://hyperphysics.phy-astr.gsu.edu/hbase/vision/isql.html#c1.
- 20. CARY A. MITCHELL, Fatemeh Sheibani. Plant Factory An Indoor Vertical Farming System for Efficient Quality Food Production. .2nd ed. Heilderberg: ACADEMIC PRESS, 2020. ISBN 9780128166918. Available also from: http:// hyperphysics.phy-astr.gsu.edu/hbase/vision/isql.html#c1.

- 21. LIGHTING, Food Autonomy Horticultural. *Modular Vertical Farm Lightbars*. foodautonomy.org, 2023. Available also from: https://foodautonomy.org/storage/files/verticalFarmLightbarsDatasheet.pdf.
- CARIBOU. What do L/B values L90/B10, L80/B10, L70/B50 actually stand for? Caribou, 2022. Available also from: https://caribou.com.au/what-do-l-b-values-190-b10-180-b10-170-b50-actually-stand-for/.
- 23. Approved Method: Measuring Maintenance of Light Output Characteristics of Solid-State Light Sources. New York: IES: Illuminating Engineering Society, 2021. ISBN 978-0-87995-407-9.
- 24. DECROLUX. What is an LM-80 Report? Decrolux, 2017. Available also from: https://decrolux.com.au/learning-centre/2017/what-is-an-lm-80report.
- 25. REZA ABBASINEJAD, Dariusz Kacprzak. A comprehensive detailed formula for LED degradation and lifetime estimation leading to reduce CO2 emissions. Department of Electrical Computer and Software Engineering, The University of Auckland, Private Bag 92019, Auckland Mail Centre, Auckland, 1142, New Zealand: Elsevier Ltd., 2022. Available also from: https://www.sciencedirect. com/science/article/pii/S2666790822001239.
- MILLER, Cameron. IES TM-21-11 Overview, History and Q&A Session. National Institute of Standards & Technology at EPA ENERGY STAR Lamp Round Table, 2011. Available also from: https://www.energystar.gov/sites/default/files/specs/TM-21%20Discussion\_0.pdf.
- PAVELKA, Tomáš. PROVOZNÍ VLASTNOSTI LED A JEJICH MODELOVÁNÍ.
   2016. MA thesis. VYSOKÉ UČENÍ TECHNICKÉ V BRNĚ, FAKULTA ELEK-TROTECHNIKY A KOMUNIKAČNÍCH TECHNOLOGIÍ.
- SCHNAUTZ, Sven. White Paper IK code: Impact protection in line with the IEC 62 262 standard. Auf dem Stützelberg · 35726 Herborn · Germany, [n.d.].
- 29. Protecting plants with movable LED lights. Vertical Farm Daily, 2020. Available also from: https://www.verticalfarmdaily.com/article/9221193/ protecting-plants-with-movable-led-lights/.
- 30. ARCEL, M Mutombo; YOUSEF, AF; SHEN, ZH; NYIMBO, WJ; ZHENG, SH. Optimizing lettuce yields and quality by incorporating movable downward lighting with a supplemental adjustable sideward lighting system in a plant factory. PeerJ, 2023. Available also from: https://peerj.com/articles/15401/.
- 31. POOL, Nord. Day-ahead prices. Nord Pool AS, 2023. Available also from: https: //www.nordpoolgroup.com/en/Market-data1/Dayahead/Area-Prices/nl/ hourly/?view=table.

- 32. GÖTZ, Philipp; HENKEL, Dr. Johannes; LENCK, Thorsten; LENZ, Dr. Konstantin; KG, Energy Brainpool GmbH & Co. Negative Electricity Prices: Causes and Effects An analysis of recent developments and a suggestion for a flexibility law. Agora Energiewende, 2014. Available also from: https://www.agoraenergiewende.de/fileadmin/Projekte/2013/Agora\_Negative\_Electricity\_ Prices\_Web.pdf.
- ČESKO. § 3 odst. 3 písm. b) vyhlášky č. 359/2020 Sb., o měření elektřiny znění od
   1. 2024. Zákony pro lidi, 2020. Available also from: https://www.zakonyprolidi.cz/cs/2020-359#p3-3-b.
- MAJDA, František. Čtvrthodinové maximum. Elektro časopis pro elektotechniku, 2021. Available also from: http://www.odbornecasopisy.cz/res/pdf/ 38165.pdf.
- HIROKI, R. et al. Identifying the Optimum Light Cycle for Lettuce Growth in a Plant Factory. Acta Hortic. Available also from: https://doi.org/10.17660/ ActaHortic.2014.1037.115.
- 36. BOEKHOUT, Rebekka. Design considerations for greenhouses vs. indoor farms. Vertical Farm Daily, 2021. Available also from: https://www.verticalfarmdaily. com/article/9320166/design - considerations - for - greenhouses - vs indoor-farms/.
- 37. AVGOUSTAKI, Dafni Despoina; LI, Jinyue; XYDIS, George. Basil plants grown under intermittent light stress in a small-scale indoor environment: Introducing energy demand reduction intelligent technologies. Food Control, 2020. Available also from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/ S0956713520303054.
- XYDIS, George; AVGOUSTAKI, Dafni Despoina. Energy cost reduction by shifting electricity demand in indoor vertical farms with artificial lighting. Biosystems Engineering. Available also from: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng. 2021.09.006.
- VANDERBEI, Robert. Linear Programming: Foundations and Extensions. Journal of the Operational Research Society. 2002, vol. 49. Available from DOI: 10. 1057/palgrave.jors.2600987.
- 40. RYJÁČEK, Zdeněk. *Teorie grafů a diskrétní optimalizace 2.* 2016. Available also from: http://najada.fav.zcu.cz/~ryjacek/KMA\_TGD2.htm. Pracovní texty přednášek z předmětu TGD2.
- 41. EHRGOTT, Matthias. *Multicriteria Optimization*. Heilderberg: Springer, 2005. ISBN 3-540-21398-8.

- 42. PARK, Yujin; SETHI, Rashmi; TEMNYK, Stephanie. Growth, Flowering, and Fruit Production of Strawberry 'Albion' in Response to Photoperiod and Photosynthetic Photon Flux Density of Sole-Source Lighting. *Plants*. 2023, vol. 12, no. 4. ISSN 2223-7747. Available also from: https://www.mdpi.com/2223-7747/12/4/731.
- Arize Lynk 2 Led Horticulture Lighting System. GE current a Daintree company. Available also from: https://hortamericas.com/wp-content/uploads/ 2021/08/HORT144-Arize-Life2-Spec-Sheet.pdf.
- 44. Arize® Life2 Indoor Vertical Farm LED Grow Light Fixture. Hort Americas. Available also from: https://hortamericas.com/catalog/horticulturallighting/vertical-lighting/arize-life2-indoor-vertical-growlight/#arize-life2.
- EICHFELDER, Gabriele. Twenty years of continuous multiobjective optimization in the twenty-first century. *EURO Journal on Computational Optimization*. 2021, vol. 9, p. 100014. ISSN 2192-4406. Available from DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejco.2021.100014.
- 46. VAFAEI, Nazanin; RIBEIRO, Rita A.; CAMARINHA-MATOS, Luis M. Assessing Normalization Techniques for Simple Additive Weighting Method. *Procedia Computer Science*. 2022, vol. 199, pp. 1229–1236. ISSN 1877-0509. Available from DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2022.01.156. The 8th International Conference on Information Technology and Quantitative Management (ITQM 2020-2021): Developing Global Digital Economy after COVID-19.
- 47. ERSOY, Nazli. Selecting the Best Normalization Technique for ROV Method: Towards a Real Life Application. *GAZI UNIVERSITY JOURNAL OF SCIENCE*. 2021, vol. 34, pp. 592–609. Available from DOI: 10.35378/gujs.767525.
- 48. ROSZKOWSKA, Ewa. Rank Ordering Criteria Weighting Methods A Comparative Overview. *Optimum.Studia Ekonomiczne*. 2013, vol. Nr 5 (65, pp. 14– 33. Available from DOI: 10.15290/ose.2013.05.65.02.
- 49. ERSOY, Nazli. Selecting the Best Normalization Technique for ROV Method: Towards a Real Life Application. *GAZI UNIVERSITY JOURNAL OF SCIENCE*. 2021, vol. 34, pp. 592–609. Available from DOI: 10.35378/gujs.767525.
- VAFAEI, Nazanin; RIBEIRO, Rita; CAMARINHA-MATOS, Luis. Selection of Normalization Technique for Weighted Average Multi-criteria Decision Making. In: 2018, pp. 43–52. ISBN 978-3-319-78573-8. Available from DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-78574-5\_4.
- 51. *Přehled statistických metod zpracování dat : analýza a metaanalýza dat*. Vol. 4. Portál, 2012. ISBN 978-80-262-0200-4.

- DANIELSON, Mats; EKENBERG, Love. Rank Ordering Methods for Multicriteria Decisions. In: ZARATÉ, Pascale; KERSTEN, Gregory E.; HERNÁN-DEZ, Jorge E. (eds.). Group Decision and Negotiation. A Process-Oriented View. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2014, pp. 128–135. ISBN 978-3-319-07179-4.
- 53. DEB, K.; PRATAP, A.; AGARWAL, S.; MEYARIVAN, T. A fast and elitist multiobjective genetic algorithm: NSGA-II. *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*. 2002, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 182–197. Available from DOI: 10.1109/ 4235.996017.
- 54. LALWANI, Soniya; SINGHAL, Sorabh; KUMAR, Rajesh; GUPTA, Nilama. A Comprehensive Survey: Multi-Objective Particle Swarm Optimization (MOPSO) algorithm: Variants and Applications. *Transactions on Combinatorics*. 2013, vol. 2, pp. 89–101.

# **List of Figures**

1.1	AeroFarm's vertical farm [2].	5
1.2	Pie chart of yearly costs of the vertical farm with leafy greens and vine crop [4]	6
1.3	Pie chart of yearly energy costs of the vertical farm with leafy greens and vine crop [4]	7
2.1	Wavelength absorption of chlorophyll a, b and beta-carotene [9]	13
2.2	Food Autonomy Horticultural lighting for research.	15
2.3	Philips linear top lighting.	15
2.4	Philips interlight for wire vegetables and soft fruit	15
2.5	Graphical representation of Inverse Square Law [19]	16
2.6	Visual description of quantities used in section 2.3	17
2.7	The number of lights depending on the distance. The graph is calculated for DLI = 9 $\frac{\text{mol}}{\text{m}^2\text{d}}$ , lighting time 16 hours, PPF of 250 $\frac{\mu\text{mol}}{\text{s}}$ and cultivation area of size 2500 m <sup>2</sup>	19
2.8	The costs of energy for one day based on the distance between light and the canopy. The graph is calculated for DLI = $9 \frac{\text{mol}}{\text{m}^2 \text{d}}$ , lighting time 16 hours, PPF of 250 $\frac{\mu \text{mol}}{s}$ and cultivation area of size 2500 m <sup>2</sup>	20
2.9	Relative light degradation for the constant strategy	22
2.10	Example of hourly light integral (HLI) measured in $\frac{\text{mol}}{\text{m}^2\text{h}}$ for the constant and the dynamic strategy.	23
2.11	Comparison of the light degradation for continuous and dynamic strat- egy from Figure 2.10. The upper graph is for one day of lighting. The lower graph is for 54,000 hours of the one-day model	24
3.1	Example of prices on day-ahead energy market with electricity. Prices are for 2023-09-18 in the Netherlands from Nord Pool market [31].	28

3.2	Continuous lighting with 16 hours of light on. The model includes a	
	constraint of 2 hours of the light being turned off from the start of the	
	day and 2 from the end. The lighting can be switched on or off each	
	quarter of an hour. The 3rd hour, the light is on for $3/4$ of the said hour	
	and for the 19th hour, the light is on only for $1/4$	34
3.3	Dynamic lighting with 16 hours of light on. Model is with condition of	
	2 hours of light off from the start of the day and 2 from the end. The	
	lighting window is set for 4. The light is on each hour from 3 to 18	
	o'clock included	39
3.4	Custom constant lighting strategy with 9 hours of light. The light is on	
	3 times for 3 hours with two hours pauses. Model is with condition of	
	2 hours of light off from the start of the day and 2 from the end	41
3.5	Custom dynamic lighting strategy with 9 hours of light. The light is on	
	3 times for 3 hours with two hours pauses. Model is with condition of	
	2 hours of light off from the start of the day and 2 from the end	42
3.6	Example of prices on day-ahead energy market with electricity. Prices	
	are for 2023-09-11 in the Netherlands from Nord Pool [31]	45
3.7	The graphs are showing the dependency of bought MWh on hours	
	based on prices during the day in Figure 3.6. The paid price for one day	
	is stated next to the title of each graph. The light is on continuously in	
	all strategies for 16 hours	45
3.8	Created function in Simulink	47
3.9	Data from Nord Pool from Germany 2024-03-24.	48
3.10	Input parameters in LiveTwin.	49
3.11	Flow Creator between LiveTwin and Energy Manager	50
3.12	The results of lighting strategies for data from Germany on 2024-03-24.	51
3.13	The results of lighting strategies for data from Germany on 2024-03-29.	52
4.1	Pareto-optimal set for strawberries is depicted by red circles. Blue cir-	
	cles belong to dominated lights	62
4.2	Histogram of number of Philips LED light in each Pareto-optimal fronts	
	for strawberries.	63
4.3	Histogram of number of Philips LED light in each Pareto-optimal fronts	
	for romaine lettuce.	64

## **List of Tables**

2.1	Light condition during lettuce life cycle [4].	12
2.2	Light condition for different types of crops [5]	12
2.3	Comparison of the number of lights $N_l$ and energy consumption $z$	
	during one day for different Food Autonomy linear top lights. All the	
	lights are 1.2 m long. The values are for an area of 100 by 25 meters	
	with constant lighting for 18 hours, $DLI = 9 \frac{mol}{m^2 d}$ , distance between the	
	light and the soil $d = 0.15$ and beam width $b_w = 150^{\circ}$ .	21
2.4	Light degradation parameters from Food Autonomy, Philips and Cool	
	Grow datasheets	22
2.5	Water protection classes of IP [28]	25
4.1	Prices of strategies for two days with 3-hour long day period. 3 prices	
	[1,0,1] and [0,1,0] are prices of energy for each hour.	56
4.2	The input parameters for romaine lettuce and for strawberries [42]	58
4.3	Arize Life2 lights with beam span 126 degrees, degradation L90B50(54	
	000), IP66 and warranty 5 years.	58
4.4	Lights from various producers. All the light has intensity L90B0	59
4.5	Philips lights with L95(36000), IP66 and warranty 3 years. All param- eters correspond to reality except the prices marked with red colour.	
		59
4.6	CoolGrow lights with length 1.16 m, L95B50(50000),IP66, warranty 5	
	years	59
4.7	Pareto-optimal lights for romaine lettuce	62
4.8	Pareto-optimal lights for strawberries	63
4.9	Table shows different normalisation techniques for benefit and cost cri-	
	teria. $r_{ij}$ is an element of matrix $R$ of all possible values for different type	
	of light and lighting strategy. Each column <i>i</i> represents all realisation of	
	decision space of one objective function $f_i$ , e.g. $(f_1(x_1), f_1(x_2),)$ . Each	
4 10	row <i>j</i> represent one output from each objective function $f_1(x_i), f_2(x_i), \dots$ Spearman's rank correlation coefficients with means and rank of each	67
r. 1 U	normalisation technique	70
		, 0

4.11	Kendall's taus with means and rank of each normalisation technique.	71
4.12	RCI and standard deviation of each normalisation technique and rank.	71
4.13	Ranks of each normalisation method for strawberries.	72
4.14	Ranks of each criterion for ranking weight methods	72
4.15	Ranks of each normalisation method of order reciprocal ranking for	
	romaine lettuce.	73
4.16	Ranks of each normalisation method of ranking sum weight method	
	for romaine lettuce.	73

a paner unonprome voj vot m okamiena velizing v čase ×=× br. a) kecht okamiena velizing v čase ×=× br. a) kecht vztahem s=s(1) - (5) s(6) Bak s(toth)-s(to) je prů uztahem s=s(1) - (1) to to hollt votalit q=q(1) m hmotného bodu v čase to. b) Necht votalit q=q(1) m časet - Pak q(b+A)-q(to) je průměrná kměrna tre naboje, y. proud: q'(to)=i(to). c) Hustusst radioak ussfi za jednestku času je

acistuje. Vokud existuje jen, Normala grafu funk v brode A = [xo, f(xo)]. Att Li & = - 1, unoun Aa je kolma na secnu to 1. AX , je jecima rouro afjerspositan x.). fratriva v bode x EDG/lolea Ruino minima (resp. maxim -11- osteho iskalmilio minima (resp. maxima) 45-15-0